
South Hams Development 
Management Committee

Title: Agenda
Date: Wednesday, 28th July, 2021

Time: 10.00 am

Venue: Repton Room - Follaton House

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Brazil

Vice Chairman Cllr Foss

Members: Cllr Abbott
Cllr Brown
Cllr Hodgson
Cllr Kemp
Cllr Long

Cllr Pannell
Cllr Reeve
Cllr Rowe
Cllr Smerdon*
Cllr Taylor

* Substitute for Cllr 
Pringle

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's register or local non 
pecuniary interest which they have in any item of business on the 
agenda (subject to the exception for sensitive information) and to leave 
the meeting prior to discussion and voting on an item in which they have 
a disclosable pecuniary interest.

Committee 
administrator:

Janice Young  Specialist- Democratic Services    01803 861105

Public Document Pack



Page No

1.  Minutes 1 - 6

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held 
on 23 June 2021;

2.  Urgent Business

Brought forward at the discretion of the Chairman;

3.  Division of Agenda

to consider whether the discussion of any item of business is likely to lead to the 
disclosure of exempt information;

4.  Declarations of Interest

Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable pecuniary interests, 
including the nature and extent of such interests they may have in any items to 
be considered at this meeting;

5.  Public Participation

The Chairman to advise the Committee on any requests received from members 
of the public to address the meeting;

6.  Planning Applications

To see Letters of Representation and further supplementary information relating 
to any of the Applications on the agenda, please select the following link and 
enter the relevant Planning Reference number: 
http://apps.southhams.gov.uk/PlanningSearchMVC/

(a)  1944/19/FUL 7 - 24

"Land between 19 & 21", Clayman's Pathway, Ivybridge
Construction of new dwelling with associated groundworks and landscaping

(b)  2555/21/VAR 25 - 34

"Car Park Creek", Gould Road, Salcombe, Devon
Variation of condition 2 (approved plans) of planning permission 1505/19/FUL

(c)  0594/21/HHO 35 - 42

"2 Devon Villas", Devon Road, Salcombe
Householder application for proposed single garage with stone facade and 
garden roof terrace

http://apps.southhams.gov.uk/PlanningSearchMVC/


Page No

***The Following Application will not be heard before 11.30am***

(d)  3018/20/FUL 43 - 50

"Land at SX 802 432", Old Quarry Farm, Stokenham
Provision of an agricultural storage building

(e)  0176/21/FUL 51 - 58

Erection of self-build/custom-build house
"Marlands Farm", Newton Road, Totnes

7.  Planning Appeals Update 59 - 60

8.  Update on Undetermined Major Applications 61 - 68



This page is intentionally left blank



   MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE held in THE REPTON ROOM, FOLLATON HOUSE, TOTNES, on 
WEDNESDAY, 23 JUNE 2021

Members in attendance
* Denotes attendance
Ø Denotes apologies     

          
* Cllr V Abbott * Cllr M Long
* Cllr J Brazil (Chairman) * Cllr G Pannell
* Cllr P Smerdon (substitute for 

Cllr D Brown)
* Cllr K Pringle

* Cllr R J Foss (Deputy Chair) * Cllr H Reeve
* Cllr J M Hodgson – item 6c onwards * Cllr R Rowe
* Cllr K Kemp * Cllr B Taylor

Other Members also in attendance and participating:

Officers in attendance and participating:

Item No: Application No: Officers:
All agenda 
items

Head of Practice – Development 
Management; Legal Officer; Planning 
Senior Specialist; IT Specialist; and 
Democratic Services Officer

DM.07/21 MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 26th May 2021 were 
confirmed as a correct record by the Chairman subject to noting the apologies of 
Cllr K Pringle and that Cllr P Smerdon was present as a substitute.

DM.08/21 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Members and officers were invited to declare any interests in the items of 
business to be considered and the following were made:

Cllrs K Kemp and H Reeve both declared a personal interest in application 
2334/19/FUL as Cllr Kemp attended school with the applicant, while Cllr Reeve 
buys petrol from the garage on the site.  The Members remained in the meeting 
and took part in the debate and vote thereon;

DM.09/21 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
The Chairman noted the list of members of the public, and town and parish 
council representatives who had registered their wish to speak at the meeting. 

DM.10/21 PLANNING APPLICATIONS
The Committee considered the details of the planning applications prepared by 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



the Planning Case Officers as presented in the agenda papers, and considered 
also the comments of Town and Parish Councils, together with other 
representations received, which were listed within the presented agenda reports, 
and RESOLVED that:

6a) 0900/21/HHO 12 Linhey Close, Kingsbridge, TQ7 1LL

Town:  Kingsbridge

Development:   Householder application for proposed internal and external 
alterations

The Committee was informed that this application had been deferred to review 
aspects raised from one set of neighbours following the site visit.  

6b) 2334/19/FUL Totnes Cross Garage, A3122 Halwell Cross to 
Totnes Cross, Halwell, TQ9 7JG

Parish:  Halwell & Moreleigh

Development:  READVERTISEMENT (revised plans and amended 
description) Conversion and extension of shop and commercial premises 
to create enlarged retail area. New vehicle repair workshop and MOT bays, 
associated access and parking

Case Officer Update: The Council had recently received an energy 
statement showing carbon reduction which culminated 
in a greater reduction than the 20% required, therefore 
the relevant reason for refusal was no longer relevant.  
The Case Office outlined that a further 63 letters in 
support had been received, all reiterating the reasons 
summarised within the report.  One letter of objection 
had been received outlining a concern that the 
intersection would be more dangerous following this 
expansion.

Following questions from the Members, the Case 
Officer confirmed that, should the application be 
approved, then a dormouse survey may be required.

Speakers included: Supporter – Mr J Hollis; Ward Member – Cllr Helen 
Reeve;

During the debate, several Members noted the commitment of the applicant to 
local produce and helping the local community.  It was also noted that the 
entrance had not been opposed by Highways, and some Members felt the new 
entrance may be an improvement.  

The Head of Development Management clarified that the ecology reports had 

Page 2



suggested mitigations for the dormice issue and therefore this could be reviewed 
by the Council’s Ecologist and, if approved, would be conditioned.

Members then voted on approval of this application, citing the following reasons 
for going against officer recommendation:

Reasons against – 1) not of a scale that would lead to additional trips, 
natural growth to process, therefore there would not 
be additional journeys, but there might even be a net 
reduction in journeys.
2) the benefits accrued meant it was necessary
3) the larger development up the hill would help 
diminish the impact of the build and access would be 
an improvement.

Proposed conditions – 1) subject to dormouse issue resolution,
2) Landscaping and screening
3) Carbon reduction
4) External lighting
5) Provision of local produce based on the applicant’s 
current sales and plan
6) Full conditions delegated to Proposer, Seconder, 
Chair, Ward Member, and Head of Development 
Management.

Recommendation: Refusal

Committee decision: Conditional approval

6c) 1944/19/FUL Land between 19 & 21 Clayman’s Pathway, 
Ivybridge, PL21 9UZ

Town:  Ivybridge

Development:   Householder application for proposed internal and external 
alterations

A Committee Member felt that the officer’s report did not go into sufficient detail 
regarding potential flooding and that the Committee should make a site visit to 
see the potential risks.  This was put to the vote whence the Committee voted to 
defer this application so that a site visit could be made.

As dictated by procedure, the speakers were offered the opportunity to speak, 
which the objector accepted.  The Case Officer then gave her presentation with 
no updates to the report. Following a question from a Member, the officer 
confirmed that there had not been a contamination study made but that this could 
be conditioned. 

Page 3



Speakers included: Objector – Mr C Whitley; 

Recommendation: Conditional approval

Committee decision: Deferral

DM.11/21 PLANNING APPEALS UPDATE

Members noted the list of appeals as outlined in the presented agenda report.   

The Head of Development Management provided further details on specific 
recent appeal decisions.  

DM.12/21 UPDATE ON UNDETERMINED MAJOR APPLICATIONS

Members noted the list of undetermined major applications.    

(Meeting commenced at 10:00 am and concluded at 12:22 pm, brief interlude at 11:21 to 11:31 
am.)

_______________
Chairman

Page 4



Voting Analysis for Planning Applications – DM Committee 23rd June 2021

Application No: Site Address Vote Councillors who Voted Yes Councillors who Voted 
No

Councillors who Voted 
Abstain

Absent

2334/19/FUL
Totnes Cross Garage, A3122 
Halwell Cross to Totnes Cross, 
Halwell, TQ9 7JG

Approval
Cllrs Abbott, Brazil, Foss, Kemp, 
Long, Pringle, Reeve, Rowe, 
Smerdon, Taylor (10)

Cllr Pannell (1) Cllr Hodgson 
(1)

1944/19/FUL
Land between 19 & 21 
Clayman’s Pathway, Ivybridge, 
PL21 9UZ

Deferral
Cllrs Abbott, Hodgson, Kemp, 
Long, Pringle, Reeve, Rowe, 
Smerdon, Taylor (9)

Cllrs Brazil, Foss (2) Cllr Pannell (1)

P
age 5



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATION REPORT 

Case Officer:  Claire Boobier                 Parish:  Ivybridge   Ward:  Ivybridge West

Application No:  1944/19/FUL

Agent:
Mrs Gill Baker  Totnes Planning
Flat 7 Elwell House
Plymouth Road
Totnes
TQ9 5LH

Applicant:
Mr G James
1 Henry Close
Plymouth Road
Lee Mill
PL21 9EX

Site Address:  Land between 19 & 21, Clayman's Pathway, Ivybridge, PL21 9UZ

Development:  Construction of new dwelling with associated groundworks and 
landscaping 

Reason item is being put before Committee: Cllr Austen has requested that this 
application be referred to Planning Committee for determination as he is concerned that 
the development will have some implications for flooding and it may have an impact on 
adjoining properties and will result in a loss of an area that is used as a local play area 
and site for nature.

Recommendation: Conditional Approval

Conditions:

Page 7

Agenda Item 6a



-Time Limit (3 years);
-Adherence to plans;
-Compliance with Sustainability Statement in Design & Access Statement;
-Vehicle Parking spaces to be provided as shown prior to first occupation of dwelling and 
retained thereafter;
-Refuse and recycling receptacle provision prior to first occupation of dwelling and retained 
thereafter;
-Permitted Development Removal for extensions and outbuildings;
-Surface water drainage details;
-On-site flood mitigation features plan for agreement;
-No alteration to garden layout with regard to position and height of dwarf walls and level details 
acknowledged in the on-site flood mitigation features plan to be submitted;
-No extensions or outbuildings to be erected within 2m of the DCC Flood Mitigation Wall shown 
on the onsite flood mitigation plan that shall be submitted;
-Prior to occupation, an ‘as constructed survey’ is to be submitted to ensure that the finished 
floor level and dwarf walls have been constructed in the correct position, level and at the 
gradients identified in the onsite flood mitigation plan;

Informative:
-This consent is subject to Unilateral Undertaking agreement for recreational impacts on 
Marine Site

Key issues for consideration:

Principle of Development 
Impact on residential amenity
Design and Landscape
Highways/Access and Parking Considerations
Flood Risk and Drainage Considerations
DEV32 Compliance

Site Description:

The site is located at the end of Clayman’s Pathway, a cul-de-sac which is part of the 
‘Woodlands’ housing estate.   

It is a 478 sqm piece of land on a mound, believed to be created as a result of builder’s spoil. 
It is located between Nos 19 and 21 Claymans Pathway, both detached dwellings.  The front 
boundary is the pavement and road, whilst the rear boundary follows the verge to an un-
metalled track providing access to Stibb Farm.  

The site is not located within a Conservation Area and there are no listed buildings within the 
vicinity of the application site that would be impacted by the proposed development

The Proposal:

Planning permission is sought for a two storey detached dwelling with associated groundworks 
and landscaping.   

Page 8



The proposed dwelling is a three bedroom property comprising kitchen, living room/dining 
room, study, ground floor wc, three bedrooms, two with en-suite facilities, bathroom and robe 
room. Two on-site parking spaces are provided.

Consultations:

 County Highways Authority  Standing advice 

 Ivybridge Town Council Support for revised proposals

Town Council comments:
In October 2020 the Planning Committee objected to the application due to flooding 
concerns, and made a recommendation to defer for 6 months until after the winter months 
to enable the new drainage scheme to be tested and proven. At their meeting in November 
2020 they resolved to SUPPORT the re-advertised application, but approval was only 
given following verbal assurances at the meeting by the applicant that all the engineering 
work and tests have been undertaken to ensure there will be no flooding, and that these 
had proven to be successful.

 Environment Agency No objections 

Environment Agency Comments
The Flood Map for Planning shows that parts of this site lie within Flood Zones 2 and 3, defined 
as having a medium to high probability of flooding. There is also a long history of flooding in 
this location. The source of this flooding is from surface water. Devon County Council are 
planning to build a flood defence scheme here in Autumn 2019. 

Technically, as the mapping shows that the site is located in Flood Zones 2 and 3, the 
applicant should submit a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) to support this development. The 
mitigation which we would expect in this location is finished floor levels raised about 
surrounding site levels. Such mitigation appears to be proposed in this instance. Therefore, 
we are satisfied from the information submitted, that the development will be safe from 
flooding and not increase flood risk elsewhere.  However, we wish to point out that this 
proposal does not provide any betterment over the current situation.*

Case Officer note: * Since this comment was received the FRA sought has been received.

Page 9



 Drainage Specialist Neutral stance on the proposed development

Drainage Specialist Comments
Based on the information provided we have a neutral stance on the proposed 
development. We understand that the ground floor level of the dwelling has been lowered 
to overcome other planning concerns and whilst the FRA has shown that the dwelling is 
safe for most storm events it is now fully reliant on the DCC flood alleviation scheme and 
secondary flood defences. Therefore the LPA will need to consider this in their decision, 
to balance flood risk and planning needs. 

The new DCC flood alleviation scheme does protect the site but it can’t be relied upon as 
it is not a flood defence and as a worst case it could fail.

As drainage consultee we have worked extremely hard with the applicant over the last 
year to ensure that the FRA acknowledges the flooding risks and includes modelling 
information to demonstrate that the existing flood alleviation wall does not overtop. 
Therefore based upon the information provided there is little more consultation that can be 
undertaken.  As has been detailed throughout this advice the scheme is reliant upon the 
presence of the wall which it will be up to Devon County Council to maintain accordingly.

Given the importance of the wall, and secondary defences, in terms of flood mitigation we 
strongly recommend that if permission is granted then suitable conditions are included to 
ensure that they are all fully designed, installed and maintained for the life time of the 
development.

Suggested conditions –

1. Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the installation of any part of the surface 
water management scheme or before development continues above slab level, whichever 
is the sooner, full details of the attenuated drainage scheme shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA). Design steps as below: 

a. SuDS to be designed for a 1:100 year event plus 40% for climate change. 
b. The site is within a Critical Drainage Area which means that any surface water leaving 
the site must be limited to the 1:10 year green field runoff rate. 
c. The FRA acknowledges the possibility of groundwater flooding so the drainage features 
should be designed to ensure they can resist a high water table and uplift pressure. 
d. If the Local Planning Authority concludes that the method of drainage approved as part 
of this permission is undermined by the high water table, a mitigating drainage alternative 
shall be agreed with the Local Planning Authority 
e. Once approved the drainage scheme shall be installed in strict accordance with the 
approved plans, maintained and retained in accordance with the agreed details for the life 
of the development. 

Reason: To ensure surface water runoff does not increase to the detriment of the public 
highway or other local properties as a result of the development.

2. Prior to commencement of development and notwithstanding the submitted details 
within the drainage report, full details of the specific onsite flood mitigation features shall 

Page 10



be submitted and approved by the LPA. Plan to be titled “Onsite flood mitigation plan” 
and minimum details to include: 

a. Label the features that form the flood mitigation 
b. Design levels and location 
c. Gradients of exceedance routes. 

Reason: The FRA acknowledges that the DCC defence wall could over top so the 
secondary mitigation is required to protect the property in such an event 

3. The garden layout with regard to the position and height of dwarf walls and level details 
acknowledged in the onsite flood mitigation plan submitted to satisfy condition 2 above 
shall not be altered. 

Reason: parts of the garden form the secondary flood mitigation and must not be altered 
or removed without written consent from the LPA

4. No extensions or outbuildings to be erected within 2m of the DCC flood mitigation wall, 
shown on the Onsite Flood Mitigation Plan submitted to satisfy condition 2 above. 

Reason: To ensure there is always an Exceedance route for flood water in the event 
that the DCC flood defence wall is over topped. 

5. Prior to occupation, an as constructed survey is to be submitted to the LPA to ensure 
that the FFL and dwarf walls have been constructed in the correct position, level and 
at the gradients identified on the Onsite flood mitigation plan 

Reason: The design levels and mitigation are fundamental in protecting the building 
from an extreme flood event and is essential that these have been installed and 
constructed as per the design.

Representations:

The application has attracted 37 objections and 1 letter of support from the applicant’s partner 
which sets out how it is considered the proposal addresses the previous outline refusal reasons 
and highlights that it is not considered the proposal will create overlooking concerns.   

It should however, be noted that the application has been subject to two consultations meaning 
some are from the same householders.  

In summary the objections raise the following concerns –

- The development will exacerbate flood risk beyond the site;
- Report works have started and query whether consent granted;
- The development is a two-storey dwelling which is higher than and dominates adjoining 

dwellings including single-storey properties
- Overlooking/loss of privacy due to height of new dwelling
- Overbearing impact on adjoining properties
- Loss of play area

Page 11



The issues raised are considered below. 

Relevant Planning History

0843/16/OPA Outline application for a new dwelling Refused 17/03/2016

271783/15 Outline application for a new dwelling Withdrawn 02/10/2015

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development/Sustainability:

The application site is located within the built up residential area of Ivybridge.  As the site is 
within the Main Town of Ivybridge it is considered that the principle of development is 
acceptable and in accordance with policies SPT1, SPT2, TTV1 and TTV2 of the Joint Local 
Plan.  

The proposed dwelling would be read as a continuation of the street scene.   Similar materials, 
form and fenestration would allow the development to blend in with the neighbouring 
properties.  

However, the site is within a known flood risk area and, whilst the principle is acceptable and 
did not feature as a reason for refusal in the case of application reference: 0843/16/OPA (an 
outline application for a dwelling at this site), this is considered to be a key determining issue, 
as well as other detailed matters considered below:

Neighbour Amenity:

Although the proposal would create a two-storey dwelling, due to orientation, it is considered 
that the proposed dwelling would not result in any material overlooking of Nos 19 and 21 the 
nearest neighbours. No. 19 and no. 21 are both detached properties.  Having considered the 
relationship between the proposed dwelling and the nearest neighbouring properties it is 
concluded that no material loss of daylight or sunlight would result or any overbearing impact. 
The area is mixed in character and two storey dwellings are not out of character with the area.  

No neighbouring amenity concerns are raised.

Design/Landscape:

The site is not within the South Devon AONB national landscape designation or the local 
landscape designations of Undeveloped Coast or Heritage Coast set out in the Joint Local 
Plan.  The proposal is not therefore within a designated landscape.

Furthermore, the proposal is not located within a Conservation Area nor are there any listed 
buildings within the vicinity of the site that would be impacted by the development.

The proposal would provide an additional dwelling within an established housing estate at the 
end of a cul-de-sac.

Unlike the previously refused application (0843/16/OPA), this application is in the form of a full 
submission and therefore officers have the benefit of seeing the full details of the scheme 
compared with that previously submitted.  Furthermore, it is worth noting that at the time of the 

Page 12



previous refusal Devon County Council (DCC) were looking at providing a Flood alleviation 
scheme so the refusal allowed for the proposed development to be reconsidered if and when 
the DCC flood alleviation scheme was installed.

It is considered that the site is of sufficient size and regularity of shape to accommodate the 
proposed dwelling once levelled and cleared.  The site is comparable in size to neighbouring 
curtilages.

The design has been revised during the consideration of this application to remove the 
previously proposed cladding to all elevations which was considered out of keeping with the 
material palette of the area replaced with a render finish.  The revisions also removed all 
balconies including Juliet balconies from the proposal which again were not considered 
compatible with the surrounding area and during the course of the application the ridge height 
has been reduced by 750mm from the original submission so that the ridge height is more 
comparable to neighbours and the roof form has been simplified.  

With these revisions made, officers conclude that, on balance, the design is acceptable in 
design terms and that the material palette proposed would be compatible with the surrounding 
area.   The proposal is not considered to adversely impact the visual amenity of the area.

Given that the proposal would complete an existing residential cul-de-sac the proposal does 
not raise any landscape impact concerns given that it will be read in the context of the existing 
residential housing estate. 

In terms of landscaping of the site, it is proposed that permeable paviours would be used for 
the parking area, paths around the property and a patio area and that the rest of the site would 
consist of a grass lawn.  A timber fence and gate would be provided between the parking area 
and garden and the existing boundary treatment would be retained along site boundaries.  It is 
concluded that sufficient detail is submitted with the application to not need to condition for 
landscape details to be agreed and the intended landscaping is compatible with that found for 
the residential curtilage of neighbouring properties.

In order to ensure that an adequate curtilage is retained to serve the dwelling given its fairly 
limited size a condition is recommended to be applied to remove permitted development rights 
for extensions to the property and for erection of outbuildings without separate planning 
consent being granted to retain control over the size of the curtilage of the dwelling in order to 
ensure that adequate outdoor amenity space is retained to serve the development.

Refuse and Recycling Storage:

The plans submitted do not detail the location for refuse and recycling receptacles however 
there is considered to be adequate space on site for their storage without them needing to be 
left on the highway for collection.  It is not therefore considered necessary to secure details of 
the receptacles themselves however a condition is recommended to be applied to ensure the 
provision of refuse and recycling receptacles prior to first occupation of the dwelling to ensure 
that adequate facilities are available for future occupiers prior to their occupation of the 
dwelling. 

DEV32 Compliance:

Page 13



The Design and Access statement in section 3.6 sets out the intentions of the applicant to 
comply with the sustainability requirements of building regulations in order to comply with policy 
DEV32 of the Joint Local Plan.

A condition is recommended to be applied to ensure that the development is built in accordance 
with the sustainability requirements of building regulations as indicated.

Highways/Access:

Access to the site would be off Clayman Pathway turning head which already serves as the 
access to residential properties and two parking spaces are proposed to be able to be 
accommodated on-site vehicle parking to serve the development. 

Devon County Council Highways have been consulted however have chosen not to specifically 
comment on this application but have referred the Council to consider the Highways Standing 
Advice issued by them.

The amount of parking proposed accords with the requirements of DEV29 for a dwelling of this 
size and it is recommended that this parking be secured by condition to be provided prior to 
first occupation of the dwelling and retained thereafter to ensure adequate parking provision is 
available to serve the dwelling from the outset and for the life of the development.

The test to be considered in the NPPF in relation to highway safety is whether or not the 
proposal would result in ‘severe’ harm to the highway.  In this case it is considered that the use 
of the cul-de-sac to serve as the access to one additional dwelling would have a negligible 
impact on the local road network.

Whilst, the access would come off the turning head there is adequate visibility on 
access/egress and by its very nature the turning head should be left free of obstruction to allow 
vehicles to turn at the end of the cul-de-sac which would ensure accessibility to the proposed 
parking spaces on the application site.  It is concluded that there is adequate on-site parking 
provision being provided to prevent vehicles from the proposed development using the turning 
head of the cul-de-sac for parking.

No highway safety concerns are raised with regard to the proposed development.

Flood Risk and Drainage:

The site lies within a Critical Drainage area and has a history of surface water flooding.  The 
previous outline application at this site, 0843/16/OPA was refused on grounds that it would 
result in displacement of water into the surrounding estate and exacerbate existing flood risk 
issues. 

The Environment Agency has advised that the Local Planning Authority needs to be satisfied 
that the flood risk Sequential Test has been met. The Sequential Test aims to steer new 
development to areas with the lowest probability of flooding (NPPF para.101).  Residential 
development is classified as a ‘More Vulnerable’ use within the National Planning Practice 
Guidance (NPPG). Table 3 of the NPPG states that the Exception Test is applicable as the site 
is within Flood Zones 2 and 3 described as having a medium to high probability of flooding.  

According to the Environment Agency flood maps the extremities of the site and the access 
road Clayman Pathway which also serves other residential properties is in part in Flood Zone 

Page 14



2/3.  During the course of the application the ground floor level has been raised from that 
considered under the previous application but is still lower than the perceived original ground 
level due to the need to have a level site to achieve a ridge line comparable with neighbouring 
properties.  This, the Council Drainage Specialist advises puts more of the site in Flood Zone 
2/3. 

The site of the dwelling itself had it not been for the floor level required to achieve an 
appropriate ridge height would not have been in the higher risk flood zones and it would have 
only been the access that would have been within the higher risk flood zones.

Taking this into account and that the source of flooding is from surface water and that the new 
Devon County Council (DCC) Flood Alleviation scheme whilst not classed as a flood defence 
does protect the site from surface water flooding.  On balance, the scheme is considered 
acceptable in terms of flood risk.  However, it is noted that the scheme is reliant upon the 
presence of the wall and Devon County Council’s maintenance of it to protect the property and 
therefore given the importance of the wall, and secondary defences given in the Flood Risk 
Assessment in terms of flood mitigation it is advised that suitable conditions are included in 
any decision to ensure that they are all fully designed, installed and maintained for the life time 
of the development and that the FRA is complied with.  These conditions are set out in the 
Council drainage consultation response above.  Subject to these mitigation measures being 
adequately installed and maintained it is concluded that the development would be safe from 
surface water flooding and that the proposal would not increase flood risk elsewhere.

The Environment Agency have not objected to the application.  On balance, given the 
circumstances of the site, the proposal is considered acceptable in flood control terms.

Open Space:

One of the reasons for refusal of the previous outline application for a dwelling on this site 
(application reference: 0843/16/OPA) was on the grounds of loss of open space without a 
compensatory contribution towards provision of off-site open space.  This was refused against 
the Development Plan documents at that time (Core Strategy and DPD Document) which had 
this requirement.  These have since been replaced by the current Development Plan (Joint 
Local Plan) and this application needs to be assessed against the current local plan policies 
which do not have the same requirement for compensatory open space provision for a 
development of this scale.  

The site sits between two detached residential dwellings and their gardens at the end of 
Clayman’s Pathway, the last cul-de-sac on a branch of the larger housing estate known as 
‘Woodlands’.

Whilst, some concerns have been raised in representations received with regard to loss of play 
space and amenity space.  The site has not been made in to a play space since the construction 
of the dwellings forming the cul-de-sac known as ‘Clayman’s Pathway’ over 25 years ago.  

It was intended in the original planning application for the Clayman’s Pathway dwellings that 
the small parcels of land, left between some of the dwellings would become play space for 
children.  The application site was one such site, however the play space provision was never 
provided and no funding for the provision of Open Space, play provision or ongoing 
maintenance was secured by legal agreement.  As a result there has been no play space 
provision made on the site since the housing estate was built and it became overgrown and 
unkempt.

Page 15



Furthermore, the South Hams District Council mapping identifies the public space type for this 
land as amenity greenspace rather than play space.

Planning policy DEV27 of the Joint Local Plan sets out that existing neighbourhood green 
spaces, “should not be built on unless it can be demonstrated that the open space is surplus 
to requirements; or the loss will be replaced by equivalent or better provision is a suitable 
location; or the development is for alternative sports and recreation provision, the needs for 
which clearly outweigh the loss.  In making this judgement regard will be had to evidence of 
the identified value of the green space’s attributes as set out in relevant open space 
assessments and account will be taken of the plan’s green space and play accessibility 
standards.  Development will be resisted on sites where the functions and characteristics of 
the greenspace will be lost and mitigation is not possible.”

In support of the application an open space, sport and recreation (OSSR) statement is provided 
setting out justification for developing the site.

The statement sets out that the site is currently an area of uneven raised ground located at the 
end of a residential cul-de-sac and is the last plot in the Woodlands housing estate before the 
developed land becomes farmland.  

The statement submitted refers to the planning history of the site that when the road and 
houses forming Clayman’s Pathway were constructed over 25 years ago as part of the 
Woodland housing development scheme the site was set aside along with two others to be 
turned into play areas.  However, this use of the site was not tied to a Section 106 Agreement 
and subsequently was never used as a play area with no funds allocated to play equipment 
and no ongoing maintenance undertaken at the site resulting in it becoming overgrown and not 
used for the purposes for which the land was set aside.

Referring to the SHDC 0SSR Supplementary Planning Document the land is too small to be 
the smallest of the play facility types defined as ‘casual play area’ after the 5m required 
boundary strips to the dwellings either side have been applied and the land take for a suitable 
ramped access installed.  The guidance also sets out that play areas should be sited where 
they are subject to view and a degree of overlooking.  This site at the end of the cul-de-sac has 
limited footfall and therefore is not overlooked as the guidance recommends.  This results in 
the space only being able to be considered as amenity greenspace which is how it is defined 
on the planning mapping layers for public open spaces.

The South Hams District Council Open Space, Sport and Recreation (OSSR) Study 2017 (an 
evidence based document for the Joint Local Plan, describes Amenity Greenspace as:

“Amenity Greenspace provides opportunities for informal activities close to home or work and 
enhances the appearance of the area.  Typically these are relatively small areas of mixed 
vegetation, but largely grassed, scattered through the towns or villages, and often used by 
children for informal play.  These areas often provide open space within residential areas but 
frequently lack a clear use and are often used for informal recreational activities e.g. kick 
around areas.”

Considering this definition of amenity greenspace, against the site characteristics of the 
application site, due to the topography of the site comprising several steep banks and a small 
uneven plateau it would be unsuitable to be used for the kick around informal recreational 
activities given as an example due to the uneven terrain for health and safety reasons.  

Page 16



Furthermore, as part of Devon County Council’s Flood Risk Management Plan for Ivybridge a 
surface water drainage culvert is now located on it with a large grate to protect the inlet.  This 
being part of an informal public open space would also raise health and safety issues were 
children to use the area for informal play.  In addition, given that no funding was secured as 
part of the original development for the ongoing upgrade and maintenance of the site to comply 
with OSSR use standards in its present condition and without means to secure its improvement 
the quality of the surface would not meet OSSR requirements.

 Furthermore, taking into account the two other amenity greenspaces in the housing estate and 
that the development consists of detached properties with their own gardens it is considered 
that this site can be considered as surplus to requirements and its loss therefore would not be 
resisted by policy DEV27.  The lack of justified need for this site is also apparent in that the site 
has not been developed as an informal play space since the dwellings were erected over 25 
years ago which suggested that there was not a need for this provision on the site.  There are 
also several equipped large parks in and around Ivybridge which comply with OSSR standards 
and are better placed to cater for the need for play space in the area. 

In addition, the only types of green space that were identified as lacking in the South Hams 
South Hams District Council Open Space, Sport and Recreation (OSSR) Study 2017 were 
Outdoor Sports Facilities & Allotments as such the strategy did not identify amenity 
greenspaces as being an area of concern in terms of public open space provision and the loss 
of this amenity greenspace would not result in a lack of this type of provision.  

The Strategy also set out that “where existing amenity greenspace is of low public benefit 
alternative uses may be sought” and in relation to quality “Amenity Greenspaces should serve 
a positive function and contribute to the quality of the public realm – not merely be left over 
spaces and a drain on maintenance”.

Looking at the characteristics of this site it is concluded that the amenity greenspace offered 
by this site is of low public benefit and does not serve a positive function nor does it without 
adequate funding and maintenance having been secured contribute to the quality of the public 
realm it merely represents left over space which the Strategy would now seek to avoid.

Based on current policy given that the existing amenity space is of low public benefit and there 
is no funding for its improvement or ongoing maintenance and given the Devon County Council 
flood management scheme on part of the site which would make it unsuitable to provide 
informal play space it is considered appropriate to consider an alternative use for the site.  The 
consideration of an alternative use of the site would not conflict with policy DEV27 of the Joint 
Local Plan for the reasons set out above as it is assessed that the site does not meet current 
green space and play accessibility standards and is surplus to requirements.

Ecology:

The site falls within the Zone of Influence for new residents having a recreational impact on the 
Tamar European Marine Site (comprising the Plymouth Sound and Estuaries SAC and Tamar 
Estuaries Complex SPA). This Zone of Influence has recently been updated as part of the 
evidence base gathering and Duty to Cooperate relating to the Joint Local Plan. A scheme to 
secure mitigation of the additional recreational pressures upon the Tamar European Marine 
Site can be secured via a financial contribution towards mitigating the recreational impacts of 
development on the Marine Site through a Unilateral Undertaking, and this approach has been 
agreed by Natural England.

Page 17



The applicant has committed to providing a financial contribution for the recreational impact on 
the Tamar European Marine Site through a Unilateral Undertaking having been secured for the 
required financial contribution to mitigate the impacts of the development.  With, this 
contribution secured it is concluded that adequate mitigation has been provided to mitigate 
against the impacts of the development on the Marine Site to make this development 
acceptable in terms of its impact on the Marine Site.

Neighbourhood Plan:

Having considered the relevant policies of the Ivybridge Neighbourhood Plan which this site 
lies within the designated area for it is concluded that granting consent for this development 
would not undermine the aims and objectives of the relevant policies of the Neighbourhood 
Plan.  The addition of one additional dwelling is not considered to exacerbate traffic movement 
issues in the Town as sought by Neighbourhood Plan policy INP7 and the proposal would also 
not have an adverse impact on the historic environment given that it is not in the vicinity of 
listed buildings and not in a conservation area nor would it have an adverse impact on the 
natural environment given that it will be read against the established built form in this residential 
location as such the proposal would not undermine the aims of policy INP8 of the 
Neighbourhood Plan.  Furthermore, the proposal is not considered to conflict with policy INP6 
of the Neighbourhood Plan.

Conclusion:

On balance, for the reasons given above conditional approval is recommended.

This application has been considered in accordance with Section 38 of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Planning Policy

Relevant policy framework
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the 
development plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of 
the 2004 Planning and Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  For 
the purposes of decision making, as of March 26th 2019, the Plymouth & South West Devon 
Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 is now part of the development plan for Plymouth City Council, 
South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Council (other than parts of South Hams 
and West Devon within Dartmoor National Park).

On 26 March 2019 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by all 
three of the component authorities. Following adoption, the three authorities jointly notified the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) of their choice to monitor 
at the whole plan level. This is for the purposes of the Housing Delivery Test (HDT) and the 5 
Year Housing Land Supply assessment.  A letter from MHCLG to the Authorities was received 
on 13 May 2019. This confirmed the Plymouth, South Hams and West Devon’s revised joint 
Housing Delivery Test Measurement as 163% and that the consequences are “None”.  It 
confirmed that the revised HDT measurement will take effect upon receipt of the letter, as will 
any consequences that will apply as a result of the measurement. It also confirmed that that 
the letter supersedes the HDT measurements for each of the 3 local authority areas (Plymouth 
City, South Hams District and West Devon Borough) which Government published on 19 

Page 18



February 2019. On 13th February 2020 MHCLG published the HDT 2019 measurement.  This 
confirmed the Plymouth. South Hams and West Devon’s joint HDT measurement as 139% and 
the consequences are “None”.

Therefore a 5% buffer is applied for the purposes of calculating a 5 year land supply at a whole 
plan level. When applying the 5% buffer, the combined authorities can demonstrate a 5-year 
land supply of 6.1 years at end March 2020 (the 2020 Monitoring Point). This is set out in the 
Plymouth, South Hams & West Devon Local Planning Authorities’ Housing Position Statement 
2020 (published   22nd December 2020).

The relevant development plan policies are set out below:

The Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by South Hams 
District Council on March 21st 2019 and West Devon Borough Council on March 26th 
2019.

SPT1 Delivering sustainable development
SPT2 Sustainable linked neighbourhoods and sustainable rural communities
SPT3 Provision for new homes
SPT12 Strategic approach to the natural environment
SPT14 European Protected Sites – mitigation of recreational impacts from development
TTV1 Prioritising growth through a hierarchy of sustainable settlements
TTV2 Delivering sustainable development in the Thriving Towns and Villages Policy Area
DEV1 Protecting health and amenity
DEV2 Air, water, soil, noise, land and light
DEV8 Meeting local housing need in the Thriving Towns and Villages Policy Area
DEV10 Delivering high quality housing
DEV20 Place shaping and the quality of the built environment
DEV23 Landscape character
DEV26 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation
DEV27 Green and play spaces 
DEV28 Trees, woodlands and hedgerows
DEV29 Specific provisions relating to transport
DEV32 Delivering low carbon development
DEV35 Managing flood risk and Water Quality Impacts 
DEL1 Approach to development delivery and viability, planning obligations and the 
Community Infrastructure Levy

Ivybridge Neighbourhood Plan (December 2017)

The application site lies within the designated area for the Ivybridge Neighbourhood Plan the 
relevant policies of the Neighbourhood Plan to this proposal are:

Policy INP6: Housing and Employment
Policy INP7: Traffic and Movement
Policy INP8: Historic and Natural Environment

Other material considerations include the policies of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) and guidance in Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). Additionally, the following 
planning documents are also material considerations in the determination of the application: 

Page 19



The Plymouth and South West Devon Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) July 
2020 was adopted by Plymouth City Council on 22 June 2020, West Devon Borough 
Council on 9 June 2020 and South Hams District Council on 16 July 2020.

SHDC OSSR Supplementary Planning Document

South Hams Public Space Strategy

Considerations under Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 have been taken into 
account in reaching the recommendation contained in this report.

Conditions:

1.  The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 as amended 
by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

2.  The development hereby approved shall in all respects accord strictly with the 
documents/drawings received by the Local Planning Authority on: 

11 July 2019:

Location Plan Drawing no. 15-JAM-LP01-P1

Design & Access Statement Document Reference 19-JAM-DOC1 (approved in respect of 
section 3.6) 

7 September 2020: 

Proposed site cross sections Drawing no. 20/JAM/GA20-P5 Rev P5 FIN Sept 20

Proposed Block & Location Plan Drawing no. 20/JAM/GA12-P9 Rev P9 FIN Sept 20 

11 November 2020:

Proposed street cross sections Drawing no. 20/JAM/GA21-P2 Rev P2 

Flood Zone & Site Plan Drawing no. 19/JAM/GA17-P12 Rev P12 FIN Nov 20 

Proposed elevations Drawing no. 19/JAM-GA15-P12 Rev P12 FIN Nov 20 

Proposed Floor Plans Drawing no. 20/JAM/GA14-P12 Rev P12 FIN Nov 20 

11 January 2021:

Proposed site drainage layout Drawing no. 20/JAM/GA19-P7 Rev P7 FIN Dec 20 

17 January 2021:

Flood Risk Assessment and Hydraulic Model Report prepared by Ambiental Environmental 
dated 7 January 2021 

Page 20



2 February 2021:

Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment (JAM-D0C02-P7) dated 27th Jan 2020 

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development is carried out in accordance with the 
documents/drawings forming part of the application to which this approval relates. 

3.  The construction of the hereby approved dwelling shall be carried out in accordance with 
the sustainability details contained in section 3.6 of the submitted design and access 
statement. 

Reason: To ensure that the development contributes towards delivering a low carbon future 
and supports the Plan Area target to halve 2005 levels of carbon emissions by 2034 and to 
contribute towards the use and production of decentralised energy. 

4.  Vehicle parking spaces shall be provided as shown on the submitted drawings prior to first 
occupation of the dwelling and retained thereafter for the life of the development. 

Reason: To ensure adequate parking facilities are provided and retained to serve the 
development. 

5.  Refuse and recycling receptacle provision shall be made available prior to first occupation 
of the dwelling and retained thereafter for the lifetime of the development. 

Reason: To ensure adequate facilities are available and retained for refuse/recycling provision 
to serve the development. 

6.  Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification) no extensions to the property or outbuildings as listed in 
Schedule 2, Class A, B, C, D or E of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) (or any order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification)shall be constructed (other than those expressly authorised 
by this permission). 

Reason:  To ensure that the character and appearance of the locality are protected and to 
avoid overdevelopment in the interests of local amenity. 

7.  Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the installation of any part of the surface 
water management scheme or before development continues above slab level, whichever is 
the sooner, full details of the attenuated drainage scheme shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA). Design steps as below: 

a. SuDS to be designed for a 1:100 year event plus 40% for climate change.

b. The site is within a Critical Drainage Area which means that any surface water leaving the 
site must be limited to the 1:10 year green field runoff rate.

c. The FRA acknowledges the possibility of groundwater flooding so the drainage features 
should be designed to ensure they can resist a high water table and uplift pressure.

d. If the Local Planning Authority concludes that the method of drainage approved as part of 
this permission is undermined by the high water table, a mitigating drainage alternative shall 
be agreed with the Local Planning Authority

Page 21



e. Once approved the drainage scheme shall be installed in strict accordance with the approved 
plans, maintained and retained in accordance with the agreed details for the life of the 
development. 

Reason: To ensure surface water runoff does not increase to the detriment of the public 
highway or other local properties as a result of the development. 

8.  Prior to commencement of development and notwithstanding the submitted details within 
the drainage report, full details of the specific onsite flood mitigation features shall be submitted 
and approved by the Local Planning Authority. Plan to be titled “Onsite flood mitigation plan” 
and minimum details to include: 

a. Label the features that form the flood mitigation

b. Design levels and location

c. Gradients of exceedance routes. 

Reason: The Flood Risk Assessment acknowledges that the Devon County Council defence 
wall could over top so the secondary mitigation is required to protect the property in such an 
event. 

9.  The garden layout with regard to the position and height of dwarf walls and level details 
acknowledged in the onsite flood mitigation plan submitted to satisfy condition 7 above shall 
not be altered. 

Reason: parts of the garden form the secondary flood mitigation and must not be altered or 
removed without written consent from the Local Planning Authority. 

10.  No extensions or outbuildings shall be erected within 2 metres of the DCC flood 
mitigation wall, shown on the Onsite Flood Mitigation Plan submitted to satisfy condition 7 
above. 

Reason: To ensure there is always an Exceedance route for flood water in the event that the 
DCC flood defence wall is over topped. 

11.  Prior to occupation, an ‘as constructed’ survey is to be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority to ensure that the finished floor level and dwarf walls have 
been constructed in the correct position, level and at the gradients identified on the Onsite flood 
mitigation plan 

Reason: The design levels and mitigation are fundamental in protecting the building from an 
extreme flood event and is essential that these have been installed and constructed as per the 
design. 

INFORMATIVES

1. This authority has a pro-active approach to the delivery of development.  Early pre-
application engagement is always encouraged. In accordance with Article 35(2) of the 
Town and Country Planning Development Management Procedure (England) Order 2015 
(as amended) in determining this application, the Local Planning Authority has 
endeavoured to work proactively and positively with the applicant, in line with National 
Planning Policy Framework, to ensure that all relevant planning considerations have been 
appropriately addressed. 

Page 22



2. The responsibility for ensuring compliance with the terms of the approval rests with the 
person(s) responsible for carrying out the development. The Local Planning Authority uses 
various means to monitor implementation to ensure that the scheme is built or carried out 
in strict accordance with the terms of the permission. Failure to adhere to the approved 
details can render the development unauthorised and vulnerable to enforcement action. 

3. This consent is subject to a Unilateral Undertaking agreement to mitigate the recreational 
impacts of the development on the Tamar European Marine Site.

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATION REPORT 

Case Officer:  Anna Henderson-Smith             Parish:  Salcombe   Ward:  Salcombe & Thurlestone

Application No:  2555/21/VAR

Agent:
Mr Chris Harley - Inspire Architects
Heywood House
Heywood
Westbury
BA13 4NA

Applicant:
Mr Daniel Field
Follaton House
Plymouth Road
Totnes
TQ9 5NE

Site Address:  Car Park Creek, Gould Road, Salcombe, Devon

Development:  Variation of condition 2 (approved plans) of planning permission 1505/19/FUL 

Reason item is being put before Committee: The application is submitted on behalf of South Hams 
District Council

Recommendation: Delegate to Head of Development Management to conditionally approve, subject 
to no material planning objections being received prior to the close of the consultation publicity end date 
of 29/7/21. 

Conditions:

1. Time as per original permission
2. Accord with plans
3. Hard/Soft Landscaping

Page 25

Agenda Item 6b



4. Materials to be agreed
5. Parking to be provided and retained
6. Unexpected contaminated land
7. Vegetation Removal
8. Use- Light Industrial (Class E) Industrial (B2) and Storage and Distribution (B8)
9. Oil Interceptor
10. Drainage - PTC
11. Chemical Storage
12. LEMP
13. Approved Drainage Details
14. Foul Drainage
15. Accord with flood management details
16. Construction Management Plan (Highways)- PTC
17. Tree Protection Plan- PTC
18. Resiting of recycling bins- PTC

Key issues for consideration:
Whether or not the proposed amendments to the approved scheme are acceptable in terms of design, 
landscape impact (including the AONB), neighbour amenity, highways, trees, and the historic 
environment.

Site Description:

The site is a linear, flat piece of land currently used as a boat store and coach park (2 bays) located 
on the west side of Gould Road on the edge of Salcombe. The site also contains recycling skips and 
an oil disposal point at present.

The site is long and narrow, with an earth bank supporting rising land on the western boundary. 
Mature trees are present to the south-western boundary. Access is taken from Gould Road, a narrow 
two-way road with restricted parking (double yellow lines). The character of the area is low-key 
commercial/maritime, with the commercial development of Island Street visible to the south. The site 
currently provides ad-hoc boat storage.

The rising land to the west is open fields. To the east, across the road, is Batson Creek Boat Park, 
beyond which is the waters of Batson Creek. On the opposite side of the estuary the land is mostly 
undeveloped green fields.

The site is within the South Devon Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), adjacent to a SSSI, 
and has a public right of way running along the western boundary. The site is also within Flood Zones 
2 and 3, and is within the setting of the Salcombe Conservation Area. The application has been 
advertised as affecting the setting of a listed building, referring to Snapes Manor, a Grade II* listed 
building approximately 230m from the site on the opposite side of the estuary.

The Proposal:

Planning permission was granted in 2019 for the erection of five new industrial units and associated 
parking. The units were granted permission for use within class B1 (light industrial), B2 (industrial), and 
B8 (storage and distribution). This application now seeks to vary the approved scheme by extending 
the units to the west, to allow for the units to be rectangular rather than the approved scheme, which 
was more of a U-shape to allow for the bank stabilisation works.

Consultations as at 13/7/21, oral update to be given at planning committee:

Page 26



 County Highways Authority- no highways implications

Representations as at 13/7/21:

None to date- the consultation period ends on 29th July and so Members will be updated orally at 
committee should any representations be received prior to the committee.

Relevant Planning History

 0784/16/FUL- Erection of new industrial units and associated access and parking- conditional 
approval 

 1505/19/FUL- Erection of new industrial units and associated parking- conditional approval on 
19/7/19

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development/Sustainability:

The principle of the development has been established by the grant of previous planning permissions 
155/19/FUL and 0784/16/FUL. The proposed amendments to the approved scheme do not change 
the fundamental development proposed, and there have been no significant changes in planning 
policy. The principle of the development therefore remains acceptable. 

Design/Landscape:

The previous design was considered to be of a functional, industrial design, but in keeping with the 
commercial/maritime surroundings, and appropriate given the proposed use of the building.

The proposed amendment does not fundamentally change the scale or design of the approved 
building. The rear elevation (south-west) previously needed to be stepped in slightly to account for the 
bank behind the building. The design has now been amended to omit this stepped-in section, giving 
the building a more uniform rectangular shape. This is a minor alteration to the scheme which is 
largely obscured from public view due to the topography of the land behind the site and the position of 
the works to the rear elevation of the units.

The proposed materials are the same as previously approved and therefore considered appropriate 
for the setting and use of the buildings. There are no amendments to the position of the doors and 
windows, and overall, the proposed amendments to the design are considered acceptable.

The site is within the South Devon AONB. Although not consulted this time due to the minor nature of 
the proposed alterations, the AONB Unit raised no objection to the previous application, and the 
changes now proposed are not considered to be so significant that Officers consider them to impact 
upon the comments previously received. 

Due to the proximity of the SSSI, a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan was submitted as 
part of the original approval. Adherence to this LEMP is recommended to be conditioned as part of 
any subsequent planning permission on the site.

The Historic Environment:

The site lies within the setting of Snapes Manor, a Grade II* listed building which lies across the 
estuary. As such, the application is subject to s.16(2) of the Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990 (as amended), which requires local planning authorities to have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic 

Page 27



interest which it possesses, and gives local planning authorities the duty to pay special attention to 
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that area respectively. 

The original application concluded the following in relation to the impact of the proposal on the setting 
of the historic environment:

Officers consider that the proposed amendments to the approved scheme do not change the original 
conclusions about the impact of the development on the setting of Snapes Manor, or the Salcombe 
Conservation Area. On balance, the benefits of the proposed development are still considered to 
outweigh the impact on heritage assets, and the proposal therefore accords with policy DEV21 of the 
Joint Local Plan, the NP, paragraphs 193 and 195 of the NPPF, and the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

Neighbour Amenity:

There are no dwellings adjacent or near to the site. The minor extension of the footprint of the 
proposal when compared to the approved scheme is not considered to result in any additional impact 
to the residential amenity of any dwellings by way of loss of light, outlook, privacy, or overbearing 
impact. No third party representations have been received at the time of writing (to be orally updated 
at committee and no decision issued until after 29th July) The development therefore accords with 
policies DEV1 and DEV2 of the JLP and the NP.

Highways/Access:

The proposed amendment would not alter the highways arrangements of the original approval. The 
Highways Authority previously requested two conditions be attached to any planning permission 
granted, concerning the submission of a Construction Management Plan, and the completion of car 
parking and vehicular access facilities proposed.

As such, subject to the re-imposition of these conditions, the proposed amendment raise no concerns 
in relation to highways matters.

Page 28



A Public Right of Way runs along the western boundary, outside of the site. No alteration to this route 
is proposed.

Ecology/Trees:

The original application was considered acceptable with regard to ecology and trees, subject to 
conditions relating to ecological mitigation measures, submission of a Landscape & Ecological 
Management Plan (LEMP), and a Tree Protection Plan. 

The amendment to the design is not considered to impact upon these aspects of the development, 
and Officers recommend that these conditions are reapplied to any subsequent planning permission.

Subject to the aforementioned conditions, the proposal would accord with policies DEV26 and DEV29 
of the JLP.

Flood Risk:

The original application was subject to various discussions with the Environment Agency due to the 
location of the development within Flood Zone 3. It was concluded that the development was 
acceptable in terms of flood risk and the flood risk assessment and summary provided by the 
applicant was included in the approved documents for the scheme.

The increase in footprint is of a minor scale and not considered to be so significant that it would affect 
the details as previously agreed. Officers therefore conclude that on balance, subject to adherence to 
the same details previously submitted, the amended design is acceptable in terms of flood risk.

Summary and conclusion: The Planning Balance:

The proposed changes to the approved design are considered to be minor in terms of scale and 
impact on the overall design of the building and surroundings. The amendments are not considered to 
be so significantly different from the original scheme that they would now be unacceptable or warrant 
refusal of the current application. 

The social and economic benefits of the development are still considered to outweigh any adverse 
impacts, and as such the proposal is consider to accord with policy and it is recommended that 
planning permission is granted, subject to the conditions detailed above (notwithstanding any 
additional material consideration which arise prior to the end of the publicity date on 29/7/21).

This application has been considered in accordance with Section 38 of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and with Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

Planning Policy

Relevant policy framework
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the 
development plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the 2004 
Planning and Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  For the purposes of decision 
making, as of March 26th 2019, the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 is 
now part of the development plan for Plymouth City Council, South Hams District Council and West 
Devon Borough Council (other than parts of South Hams and West Devon within Dartmoor National 
Park).

The relevant development plan policies are set out below:

Page 29



The Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by South Hams District 
Council on March 21st 2019 and West Devon Borough Council on March 26th 2019.

SPT1 Delivering sustainable development
SPT2 Sustainable linked neighbourhoods and sustainable rural communities
DEV1 Protecting health and amenity
DEV2 Air, water, soil, noise, land and light
DEV14 Maintaining a flexible mix of employment sites
DEV20 Place shaping and the quality of the built environment
DEV21 Development affecting the historic environment
DEV23 Landscape character
DEV24 Undeveloped coast and Heritage Coast
DEV25 Nationally protected landscapes
DEV26 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation
DEV27 Green and play spaces 
DEV28 Trees, woodlands and hedgerows
DEV29 Specific provisions relating to transport
DEV35 Managing flood risk and Water Quality Impacts 

Neighbourhood Plan
The site is within the Salcombe neighbourhood plan area. This plan has been made and forms part of 
the development plan. The relevant policies in this instance are:

SALC Env1
SALC Env5
SALC Env6
SALC B1
SALC EM1
SALC T1

In light of the above assessment, the application is considered to accord with the Salcombe 
neighbourhood plan.

Other material considerations include the policies of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
and guidance in Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) and the AONB management plan. 

Considerations under Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 have been taken into account 
in reaching the recommendation contained in this report.

Recommended conditions:

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than 19th July 2022, 
which is the date of expiration of planning permission 1505/19/FUL, which this application 
varies. 
Reason: To comply with Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 1990 as amended.

2. The development hereby approved shall in all respects accord with drawing numbers XXXXX 
received by the Local Planning Authority on XXX
Reason: To ensure that the proposed development is carried out in accordance with the 
drawings forming part of the application to which this approval relates.

3. Prior to construction above slab level full details of all hard and soft landscaping shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall take 
place in accordance with the approved details. 

Page 30



Reason: In the interest of the amenity of the area.

4. Notwithstanding any indications of materials shown on the approved drawings or within any other 
part of this application, the exterior walls of the building hereby approved shall be clad in larch 
timber in accordance with details and samples that shall have been approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority prior to their installation. The development shall then be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and the timber shall be retained as approved and shall not 
be painted or varnished in a way that will change its external appearance unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local planning Authority. 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and the character of the area.

5. The parking and turning areas shall be laid out in accordance with the approved plans and details 
and shall be made available for use prior to the occupation of the units to which they relate. The 
parking and turning areas shall be retained and made available for use by users of this 
development and kept free of obstructions in perpetuity. 
Reason: In the interests of the safety and convenience of users of the Highway.

6. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the site 
then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority) shall be carried out until the developer has submitted, and obtained written approval 
from the Local Planning Authority for, an investigation and risk assessment and, where 
necessary, a remediation strategy and verification plan detailing how this unsuspected 
contamination shall be dealt with. Following completion of measures identified in the approved 
remediation strategy and verification plan and prior to occupation of any part of the permitted 
development, a verification report demonstrating completion of the works set out in the approved 
remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to and 
approved, in writing, by the local planning authority. 
Reason: No site investigation can completely characterise a site. This condition is required to 
ensure that any unexpected contamination that is uncovered during remediation or other site 
works is dealt with appropriately.

7. Any vegetation removal shall be timed to commence outside of nesting season (generally 
considered to be March to August inclusive). If vegetation must be removed within nesting 
season, the area should be checked immediately prior to works to confirm that no birds are 
nesting/preparing nests within the vegetation to be removed. If birds are found (or suspected) to 
be nesting, works should be delayed, and a 5 metre buffer established until all young birds have 
fledged. 
Reason: In the interests of biodiversity protection. Birds are protected under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act, 1981, which includes damage and destruction of nests whilst in use or being 
built.

8. Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2 of the General Permitted Development (England) 
Order 2015 the proposed building/premises shall be used for: B1 (b) light industrial use, B2 
General Industrial and B8 Storage or Distribution uses only as defined by Town and Country 
Planning Use Classes Order, 1987 for no other purpose. 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of the area; this was the use applied for and only the impacts 
of this type of use have been considered and to ensure the provision of units that will have a 
positive impact on the local economy.

9. Prior to installation of drainage scheme details of the oil interceptor proposed in the drainage 
scheme to prevent pollutants from entering the estuary shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved oil interceptor shall be installed in 
accordance with the approved details prior to any part of the building being brought into use and 
shall be retained and maintained in perpetuity. 
Reason: To protect the nearby estuary and Site of Special Scientific Interest from pollution

Page 31



10. Prior to installation of drainage scheme all internal drainage is to connect only to the foul sewer 
system in accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority prior 
to the commencement of development. 
Reason: To protect the nearby estuary and SSSI from pollution, and as such is required prior to 
commencement

11. No chemicals shall be stored outside of any of the buildings hereby approved at any time. 
Reason: To protect the nearby estuary and SSSI from pollution.

12. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the Landscape and 
Ecological Management Plan dated May 2019 and this shall be fully adhered to at all times. 
Reason: To ensure the long term protection of the nearby estuary and SSSI from pollution as a 
consequence of this development.

13. Prior to the occupation of any part of the building the approved drainage details shall be fully 
implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
Reason: In the interests of flood risk and protection of the nearby SSSI from pollution.

14. Foul drainage from the development (and no other drainage) shall be connected to the public 
foul or combined sewer. 
Reason: To ensure the discharge of drainage from the Development shall not be prejudicial to 
the public sewerage system and ensure there are adequate public foul sewerage facilities to 
receive foul water flows, in order to safeguard the public and environment.

15. The development hereby approved shall in all respects accord with the Flood Risk Assessment 
(dated 8th May 2019) and the Flood Risk Summary (Supplementary Information) for the life of 
the development.
Reason: In the interests of public safety

16. Prior to commencement of any part of the site the Planning Authority shall have received and 
approved a Construction Management Plan (CMP) including: (a) the timetable of the works; (b) 
daily hours of construction; (c) any road closure; (d) hours during which delivery and construction 
traffic will travel to and from the site, with such vehicular movements being restricted to between 
8am and 6pm Mondays to Fridays excluding school nursery drop off/pick up times inc.; 9.00am 
to 1.00pm Saturdays, and no such vehicular movements taking place on Sundays and 
Bank/Public Holidays unless agreed by the planning Authority in advance; (e) the number and 
sizes of vehicles visiting the site in connection with the development and the frequency of their 
visits; (f) the compound/location where all building materials, finished or unfinished products, 
parts, crates, packing materials and waste will be stored during the demolition and construction 
phases; (g) areas on-site where delivery vehicles and construction traffic will load or unload 
building materials, finished or unfinished products, parts, crates, packing materials and waste 
with confirmation that no construction traffic or delivery vehicles will park on the County highway 
for loading or unloading purposes, unless prior written agreement has been given by the Local 
Planning Authority; (h) hours during which no construction traffic will be present at the site; (i) the 
means of enclosure of the site during construction works; and (j) details of proposals to promote 
car sharing amongst construction staff in order to limit construction staff vehicles parking off-site 
(k) details of wheel washing facilities and obligations (l) The proposed route of all construction 
traffic exceeding 7.5 tonnes. (m) Details of the amount and location of construction worker 
parking. (n) Photographic evidence of the condition of adjacent public highway prior to 
commencement of any work
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenity of the area.
Reason for pre-commencement condition: To ensure that the construction period of the 
development does not impact upon the local highways network or public amenity areas.

17. Prior to the commencement of development, a tree protection plan in accordance with 
BS7837:2012 shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority, which defines root protection 

Page 32



areas (RPA’s) for the group of Elm trees to ensure protection during the construction process if 
consent follows. 
Reason: In order to protect trees of public amenity value. Reason for pre-commencement 
condition: The Local Planning Authority must be satisfied that the development will be 
constructed in a manner that would not harm any trees of public amenity value.

18. Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved a suitable scheme and schedule 
of timings shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning which concerns the resiting 
of the existing recycling bins currently located within the application site. The re-siting shall then 
be carried out in accordance with this approved scheme
Reason: In the interest of the amenities of the area.
Reason for pre-commencement condition: The details of the resiting of the recycling bins needs 
to be agreed before the development can take place.

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATION REPORT 

Case Officer:  Bryony Hanlon                  Parish:  Salcombe   Ward:  Salcombe and Thurlestone

Application No:  0594/21/HHO

Agent:
Mr Richard Atkinson 
Atkinson Architects
5 Acre Place
Plymouth
PL1 4QP

Applicant:
Mr Brian Lavender
2 Devon Villas, Devon Road
Salcombe
TQ8 8HD

Site Address:  2 Devon Villas, Devon Road, Salcombe, TQ8 8HD

Recommendation: Refusal

Reason for call-in: Cllr Long wishes this application to be considered by the Development 
Management Committee for a review and judgement of the harm and change to the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area of this current application.

Reasons for refusal:
The proposed development by reason of its scale, massing and design is considered harmful to the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area and also fails to conserve and enhance the 
landscape and scenic beauty of this part of the South Devon Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 
contrary to adopted policies; SPT1 (2iii, 3v) Delivering sustainable development, SPT2 (10) Sustainable 
linked neighbourhoods and sustainable rural communities, SPT11 Strategic approach to the historic 
environment, SPT12 (4) Strategic approach to the natural environment, DEV20 (2, 3, 4) Place shaping 
and the quality of the built environment, DEV21 (1, 2, 6) Development affecting the historic environment, 
DEV23 (1, 2, 3, 7) Landscape character and DEV25 Nationally protected landscapes (2, 3, 8), 
Salcombe Neighbourhood Plan Policies SALC ENV1 (a, b) and SALC B1 (1, 2a), and the guidance of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) including but not limited to paragraphs 170, 172, 184 
and 189-202.

Page 35

Agenda Item 6c



Key issues for consideration:
Design, scale and massing, impact on the Salcombe Conservation Area, impact on the South Devon 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

Site Description:
The application site is located on the residential street of Devon Road, Salcombe. Number 2 Devon 
Villas is part of a pair of largely symmetrical semi-detached 19th Century villas with a strong vertical 
emphasis, set in large, open gardens. From the elevated position within the town, the site enjoys long 
views of the Salcombe Estuary below. The site lies within the Salcombe Conservation Area (a 
designated Heritage Asset) and the South Devon Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.

The existing house is particularly visible within the surrounding area, due to the topography of the land 
(sloping downward west to east) and to the layout of Devon Road itself, which forms a gentle bend 
northwards in front of Devon Villas. Devon Villas are noted as “Townscape Buildings” within the 
Salcombe Conservation Area Appraisal, with their large gardens recognised as “Green Spaces,” with 
the boundary wall to the front of the Villas noted as a “Historic Wall”. Together, these elements 
contribute positively to the character and appearance of the Salcombe Conservation Area and as such, 
the building is recognised as a non-designated heritage asset. It is acknowledged that the building has 
been extended and altered during its lifetime.

The Proposal:
The current proposal comprises the construction of a garage with stone façade and garden roof terrace 
above. It should be noted that the proposal is in part retrospective, as the three enclosing walls of the 
garage have been constructed and the floor of the garage has been levelled and surfaced. An electric 
charging point has been installed within the proposed footprint of the garage.

Consultations:

 County Highways Authority No highways implications

 Town Council No comments to make

 SHDC Heritage Officer Neutral View
As discussed I can only assess the current proposal against what could be constructed under the 
previously approved scheme (0466/19/HHO) and subsequent discharge of conditions. That scheme 
allows for rendered block retaining walls without any planting guaranteed. On that basis I must 
compare the proposed design with the worst case scenario and there are items that are better 
visually, assuming it would be well built with high quality materials, which can be controlled via 
conditions. 

The betterment is the use of a natural stone wall, deeper planting area and visually recessive railings 
as this will restore the feeling of garden to the side of the property. The negative is that there will be a 
garage door within the wall but if that is of a good design, material and colour to complement 
stonework then it can be argued that the proposal is at least neutral in terms of impact on the 
character and appearance of the conservation area.

One thing I would say is that the provision of an additional parking space in the garage means there is 
an opportunity to have more planting and garden character to the front of the property. There could be 
more shrub planting areas to the north and south of the parking area and the space could be a 
reinforced planted product at least in part. This would be a definite enhancement reinstating some of 
the garden character that has been lost to extensive block paving.

Page 36



In summary, with conditions controlling stonework, parapet coping, railings, hard and soft landscaping 
I consider the proposal to be at least neutral with potential to provide enhancement to the CA.

Representations:
Representations from Residents
Five letters of support have been received and include the following points: 

 Having looked at the plans I would say that this garage with garden terrace above will 
complement the house to which it is attached and form a pleasing balance with the neighbouring 
house. It will enhance the conservation area as a whole.

 The proposed garage would be a modest building, three sides of which are invisible as they are 
keyed into the sloping hillside. Only the front facade would be visible and that has been designed 
to be as low impact and garden-like as possible. We support this planning application.

 As a previous neighbour, I support this application. Unlike other garages in the immediate 
vicinity, the proposed garage is not glaringly obvious. The height and scale appears to have 
been kept to a minimum and is wholly appropriate to the style of the house.

 The above application refers to the property next door to our own, Springfield. Having studied 
the proposal we can see no reason to raise any objections. The terrace above the garage will 
be hidden from Springfield and from others further up the road by a hedge. I would recommend 
acceptance of this proposal.

 I have lived in Devon Rd for over ten years and find this application totally sympathetic to the 
area of Devon Rd where the house is positioned. It is a pleasure to see that such care has been 
taken by the architects to integrate the whole structure in such an unobtrusive way.

 It should be noted that this garage, positioned as it is, is only visible from the road for a stretch 
of just a few yards.

 This house is a very welcome permanent residence upon which a lot of time and expense has 
been spent in restoring it to its former glory.

Relevant Planning History
Planning 
Application 
Reference

Proposal Site Address Decision

41/0086/86/3: 
FUL New car hardstanding

2 Devon Villas 
Devon Road 
Salcombe.

Conditional 
approval: 
11 Mar 86

41/0223/96/6: 
CAC

Conservation Area Consent for partial 
demolition of garden wall

2 Devon Villas 
Devon Road 
Salcombe.

Refusal: 
07 Mar 96

41/0224/96/3: 
FUL Provision of car parking for two cars

2 Devon Villas 
Devon Road 
Salcombe.

Refusal: 
07 Mar 96

41/0572/96/6: 
CAC

Conservation Area Consent for partial 
demolition of stone boundary wall to form 
access

2 Devon Villas 
Devon Road 
Salcombe.

Conditional 
approval: 
21 May 96

41/0573/96/3: 
FUL New access and parking/turning space

2 Devon Villas 
Devon Road 
Salcombe.

Conditional 
approval: 
21 May 96

41/2034/00/CA
: CAC

Renewal of Conservation Area Consent 
9/41/0572/96/6 for partial demolition of stone 
boundary wall

2 Devon Villas 
Devon Road 
Salcombe TQ8 
8HD

Conditional 
approval: 
07 Feb 01

41/2035/00/F: 
FUL

Renewal of permission 9/41/0573/96/3 for 
creation of new access and parking/turning

2 Devon Villas 
Devon Road 
Salcombe TQ8 
8HD

Conditional 
approval: 
07 Feb 01

Page 37



3700/18/HHO
Householder application for proposed rear 
single storey extension, garage and 
associated works

2 Devon Villas 
Devon Road 
Salcombe TQ8 
8HD

Withdrawn

0466/19/HHO

Householder application for proposed single 
storey side and rear extension with 
associated works (Resubmission of 
3700/18/HHO)

2 Devon Villas 
Devon Road 
Salcombe TQ8 
8HD

Conditional 
Approval:
08 Apr 19

1870/19/ARC
Application for Approval of Details Reserved 
by Conditions 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 of Planning 
Consent 0466/19/HHO

2 Devon Villas 
Devon Road 
Salcombe TQ8 
8HD

Discharge of 
condition 
Approved:
09 Dec 19

3517/20/PR1
Full Pre App - Pre Application for - A 
proposed new private garage set at the side 
of the main dwelling 2 Devon Villas.

2 Devon Villas 
Devon Road 
Salcombe TQ8 
8HD

Pre-
application:
(No Officer 
support)

0313/20/HHO Householder application for construction of 
garage and associated works.

2 Devon Villas 
Devon Road 
Salcombe TQ8 
8HD

Refusal:
26 Mar 20
(Appeal 
dismissed:
29 Jun 20)

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development/Sustainability
The application site is located within the built form of Salcombe; a residential dwelling currently 
occupies the site and the principle of residential development is therefore established. The site is also 
located within the South Devon AONB and the Salcombe Conservation Area. 

Design/Landscape
The Villas are recognised within the Conservation Area Appraisal as a significant positive feature of 
the Conservation Area and the fact that they sit within largely unspoiled/undeveloped gardens is part 
of the special architectural and historic character. As well as being an important example of the 19th 
Century villa style, the building is also an appealing focal point when viewed from the east 
progressing down Devon Road towards the town; it is desirable to protect that view.

It is noted that the proposal is a revision of a similar scheme that was refused and later dismissed at 
appeal under 0313/20/HHO. However, the current proposal differs from the scheme previously 
considered by the Inspector in that the garage does not project beyond the existing building line of the 
main dwelling and that the scheme now includes a natural stone façade and a terrace with soft 
landscaping above. It is also acknowledged that the applicant engaged with the LPA’s Pre-Application 
Advice Service to discuss these revisions to the scheme. However, the applicant was advised that the 
proposal was unlikely to be supported, as Officers did not consider that the principle of a garage could 
be supported on the site, in light of the Inspector’s decision on the previous application. 

In that decision, the Inspector noted that the proposal would “undermine the strong vertical emphasis 
of the house,” resulting in an “awkward and incongruous relationship with the house, thereby causing 
significant harm to its character and appearance.” The Inspector also noted that this harm would be 
“appreciable in public views from Devon Road given the wide vehicular access and the position of the 
development above the highway level”. The Inspector also considered that despite the soft 
landscaping included with the proposal, the creation of a garage would result in the introduction of 
further hard urban form within the site and that “the sense of the gardens flowing around the building 
would be lost, even if planters were provided on the terrace”.

Officers have had regard to this planning history in the determination of the current application but 
would stress that the current proposal has been considered on its own merits. Officers note that a 

Page 38



number of letters of support have been received for the current application, with supporters 
recognising that the design of the scheme would be set into the existing slope of the land, that public 
views would only be available of the front façade from a short section of Devon Road. Other 
supporters have commended the time and expense spent on works to the existing dwelling to date. It 
is also noted that the Town Council have confirmed that they do not have any comments to make on 
the proposal.

Officers do acknowledge that the proposal has been recessed relative to the previous scheme and 
now broadly aligns with the existing building line. However, as a consequence of this change, the 
proposal now appears wider than the previous scheme, with the garage door measuring c. 3.7m 
compared to the 2.5m wide door previously refused. As such, the proposal still reads as an expansive 
block form with a distinctly horizontal emphasis, in stark contrast to the elegant vertical proportions of 
the host dwelling. This additional hard urban form and the new garage façade will serve as an abrupt 
separation of the front and rear garden areas, despite the stone facing and soft landscaping to the top 
of the garage included with the scheme as a whole. In this regard, the proposal does not overcome 
the substantive objections to the scheme, as considered under the previous appeal decision. Officers 
acknowledge the comments of supporters who note that the proposal would only be visible from the 
public realm for a short section of Devon Road, however, Officers consider that this does not justify 
the harmful impacts of the proposal. 

Officers are mindful of the duty noted at Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing 
the character or appearance of the conservation area in exercising planning functions. Whilst the 
Heritage Officer has not confirmed that that the application should be refused, his conclusion is that 
the impact of the development proposed is neutral. Having considered the Heritage Officer’s 
comments, Officers are of the view that the proposal fails to overcome the issues identified by the 
Inspector. It is considered that the harm to the Conservation Area would be “less than substantial” 
(para 196, NPPF, 2019) and therefore must be balanced against any public benefit arising from the 
proposal. The construction of the development could benefit the local economy through increased 
employment and spending, but this would be modest due to the very small scale of the development. 
However, this benefit does not outweigh the resultant harm to the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area. 

In addition, as the site is located within South Devon AONB, policy DEV25 requires that proposals 
“conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the protected landscape with particular reference to their 
special qualities and distinctive characteristics or valued attributes”. The proposal fails to meet this 
policy test, as it does not conserve or enhance the character and appearance of the Salcombe 
Conservation Area, an historic settlement recognised within the South Devon AONB Management 
Plan as one of the distinctive characteristics of the AONB. 

As such, the proposed development by reason of its scale, massing and design is considered harmful 
to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area and also fails to conserve and enhance the 
landscape and scenic beauty of this part of the South Devon Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 
contrary to adopted policies; SPT1 (2iii, 3v) Delivering sustainable development, SPT2 (10) 
Sustainable linked neighbourhoods and sustainable rural communities, SPT11 Strategic approach to 
the historic environment, SPT12 (4) Strategic approach to the natural environment, DEV20 (2, 3, 4) 
Place shaping and the quality of the built environment, DEV21 (1, 2, 6) Development affecting the 
historic environment, DEV23 (1, 2, 3, 7) Landscape character and DEV25 Nationally protected 
landscapes (2, 3, 8), Salcombe Neighbourhood Plan Policies SALC ENV1 (a, b) and SALC B1 (1, 2a), 
and the guidance of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) including but not limited to 
paragraphs 170, 172, 184 and 189-202.

Neighbour Amenity
While the introduction of the raised deck area above the garage is likely to result in a degree of 
overlooking of the neighbouring front garden at Springfield to the south, given the degree to which the 
front garden is already overlooked, it is not considered that the resultant harm is so significant as to 

Page 39



warrant a refusal solely on this basis. It is also noted that the occupant of Springfield has submitted a 
letter of support for the proposal. On this basis, the proposal is considered to accord with the 
provisions of DEV1 and DEV2.

Highways/Access
The applicant has stated that the proposal would result in improved vehicle turning and manoeuvring 
within the site through the creation of the additional space within the garage. It is noted that there are 
no changes to the existing vehicular access point out on to Devon Road. Officers have had regard to 
the previous appeal decision, existing parking and turning arrangements within the site and the lack of 
any site specific comment from Devon County Council Highways. As such, it is not considered that 
the proposal would result in such a significant reduction in risk to highways safety in terms of 
improved manoeuvring so as to outweigh the harm to the character and appearance of the 
Conservation Area. 

The applicant has noted that the proposal will provide space for electric vehicle charging points; this is 
acknowledged and is considered to accord with the provisions of DEV32. However, it is considered 
that there is sufficient space to provide such facilities elsewhere within the site boundary and as such, 
the benefits associated with such facilities are not considered to outweigh the harmful effects of the 
proposal as a whole on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.

Other Matters
One letter of support notes that the proposal is welcome partly due to the use of the dwelling as a 
permanent residence. While this comment is noted, in this instance, the use of the dwelling as a 
permanent residence is not considered material to the planning application.

Conclusion
The proposed development by reason of its scale, massing and design is considered harmful to the 
character and appearance of the Conservation Area and also fails to conserve and enhance the 
landscape and scenic beauty of this part of the South Devon Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, 
contrary to adopted policies; SPT1 (2iii, 3v) Delivering sustainable development, SPT2 (10) 
Sustainable linked neighbourhoods and sustainable rural communities, SPT11 Strategic approach to 
the historic environment, SPT12 (4) Strategic approach to the natural environment, DEV20 (2, 3, 4) 
Place shaping and the quality of the built environment, DEV21 (1, 2, 6) Development affecting the 
historic environment, DEV23 (1, 2, 3, 7) Landscape character and DEV25 Nationally protected 
landscapes (2, 3, 8), Salcombe Neighbourhood Plan Policies SALC ENV1 (a, b) and SALC B1 (1, 2a), 
and the guidance of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) including but not limited to 
paragraphs 170, 172, 184 and 189-202 and it is therefore recommended that the application be 
refused.

This application has been considered in accordance with Section 38 of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and with Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

Planning Policy

Relevant policy framework
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the 
development plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the 2004 
Planning and Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  For the purposes of decision 
making, as of 26 March 2019, the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 is now 
part of the development plan for Plymouth City Council, South Hams District Council and West Devon 
Borough Council (other than parts of South Hams and West Devon within Dartmoor National Park).

The relevant development plan policies are set out below:

Page 40



The Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by South Hams District 
Council on 21 March 2019 and West Devon Borough Council on 26 March 2019.

SPT1 Delivering sustainable development 
SPT2 Sustainable linked neighbourhoods and sustainable rural communities 
SPT9 Strategic principles for transport planning and strategy 
SPT10 Balanced transport strategy for growth and healthy and sustainable communities 
SPT11 Strategic approach to the Historic environment 
SPT12 Strategic approach to the natural environment 
TTV1 Prioritising growth through a hierarchy of sustainable settlements 
TTV2 Delivering sustainable development in the Thriving Towns and Villages Policy Area 
DEV1 Protecting health and amenity
DEV2 Air, water, soil, noise, land and light 
DEV10 Delivering high quality housing 
DEV20 Place shaping and the quality of the built environment 
DEV21 Development affecting the historic environment 
DEV23 Landscape character 
DEV25 Nationally protected landscapes 
DEV26 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation 
DEV27 Green and play spaces 
DEV28 Trees, woodlands and hedgerows 
DEV29 Specific provisions relating to transport 
DEV31 Waste management 
DEV32 Delivering low carbon development 
DEV35 Managing flood risk and Water Quality Impacts 

Other material considerations include the policies of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
including but not limited to paragraphs 170, 172, 184 and 189-202 and guidance within the Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG). Additionally, the following planning documents are also material 
considerations in the determination of the application: South Devon AONB Management Plan (2019-
2024), Salcombe Conservation Area Appraisal (2010), Salcombe Conservation Area Management Plan 
(2010), Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan Supplementary Planning Document 2020.

Neighbourhood Plan
Following a successful referendum, the Salcombe Neighbourhood Plan was made at Executive 
Committee on 19 September 2019. It now forms part of the Development Plan for South Hams District 
and is used when determining planning applications within the Salcombe Neighbourhood Area. It is 
considered that the proposal conflicts with the policies below; 

SALC ENV1 (a, b) Impact on the South Devon Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
SALC B1 (1, 2a) Design Quality and safeguarding Heritage Assets

Considerations under Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 have been taken into account 
in reaching the recommendation contained in this report.

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPLICATION REPORT 

Case Officer:  Bryony Hanlon                  Parish:  Stokenham   Ward:  Stokenham

Application No:  3018/20/FUL

Agent:
Mrs Amanda Burden  
Luscombe Maye
59 Fore Street
Totnes
TQ9 5NJ

Applicant:
Mr Matthew Lethbridge
C/O Agent
Luscombe Maye
59 Fore Street, Totnes
TQ9 5NJ

Site Address:  Land at SX 802 432, Old Quarry Farm, Stokenham, TQ7 2TA

Development:  Provision of an agricultural storage building.

Recommendation: Refusal

Reason for call-in: Cllr Brazil has noted that; “Reading the report and especially the comments from 
the landscape officer, the applicant has assured me and is supported by the parish council that given 
their land holdings, this is the best site”.

Reasons for refusal:
The proposed development would appear incongruous and unduly visually prominent, failing to 
conserve and enhance the landscape and scenic beauty of this part of the South Devon Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, contrary to the provisions of STP1 (2iii, 3v), SPT2 (10), SPT12 (1, 4), TTV1 
(4), DEV23 (1, 3, 3, 4, 6, 7), DEV25 (8) of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-
2034, the National Planning Policy Framework (notably but not limited to paragraph 172), the guidance 
set out in Section 8.6 of the South Devon AONB Management Plan – Planning Guidance and the 
guidance set out in the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan Supplementary Planning 
Document 2020, including but not limited to paragraphs, 7.42 to 7.62.

Page 43

Agenda Item 6d



Key issues for consideration:
Scale, design and massing, agricultural need, impact on the South Devon Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty.

Site Description:
The site is located on rising land c. 0.2km north west of the edge of Stokenham village. The site 
comprises a 0.25 hectare portion of a larger triangular shaped field, adjacent to the road from 
Carehouse Cross in the south to Coleridge Cross in the north; there is an existing vehicular access at 
the south eastern corner of the site. The larger field is bounded by mature hedges.

The site is located within the open countryside and South Devon Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 
Stokenham Byway 35 runs to the north west of the site and Stokenham Footpath 13 to the north east.

The Proposal:
The site is part of a larger 107 hectare holding, with the main farmhouse located at Old Quarry Farm c. 
0.5km south east. The farm is currently all in arable rotation and the applicant requires additional 
storage for grain produced on the holding. The applicant wishes to site a new storage building on the 
western side of the holding in order to reduce the need for large articulated grain lorries to travel through 
Stokenham village.

The proposed building is designed to store grain, straw and agricultural machinery (which is currently 
stored offsite) and measures 22.5 x 15m with a 5m lean-to on the south elevation. The main ridgeline 
stands at 6.1m and the eaves are 4.5m; materials include poured concrete and green box profile 
cladding, covered by an anthracite grey fibre cement roof with light sheets. The applicant anticipates 
that there will be some levelling works necessary to site the new building. The spoil is proposed for use 
in creating new boundary hedge banks; the applicant has also proposed a rolled stone yard around the 
building, together with new woodland planting to act as screening.

Consultations:

 County Highways Authority No highways implication

 County Archaeologist No objection subject to condition

 Parish Council Comment
This proposal had good access and with farmers needing more modern buildings access was 
important. This was a standard farm building and the applicant was an active farmer in the area but it 
was requested that a condition be included to restrict this building to agricultural use in perpetuity.

 SHDC Agricultural Consultant Support

 SHDC Landscape Officer Objection
Having reviewed the submitted LVIA addendum documents, I still maintain my objection in landscape 
and visual terms to the application as currently proposed. The applicant’s landscape consultant has 
undertaken a limited assessment of some potential alternative locations for the proposed development, 
which is helpful to a degree. However, it would be useful, to better understand matters as to why the 
application site is considered the most appropriate location for the proposed store, if possibly the 
applicant’s agent or another appropriate person could provide more comprehensive information that 
shows the applicant’s landholding and the logistics of other considered alternate locations for the 
proposed development. Any comparative landscape and visual assessment criteria could then be 
applied to this baseline.

 SHDC Tree Officer No Objection on arboricultural merit

Page 44



 SHDC Drainage Engineer No Objection subject to condition

Representations:
Representations from Residents
Six letters of support have been received and include the following points: 

 At the present time many agricultural vehicles are required to use Kiln Lane, the storage building 
will reduce the traffic through the residential area of Kiln Lane. This development will result in 
an improvement to highways safety and there will be a reduction of noise in the residential area. 

 The storage building would facilitate improved working for the farm.
 The proposed landscaping and tree planting will have a beneficial impact on the area.

Relevant Planning History
Planning 
Application 
Reference

Proposal Site Address Decision

53/1487/76/1: 
OPA

Bungalow and garage to house 
agricultural worker

Plot in eastern corner of O.S. 
5813 Stokenham

Refusal: 
24 Feb 77

2638/19/AGR
Prior notification of agricultural 
development for proposed 
agricultural storage building

Old Quarry Farm, 
Stokenham, TQ& 2TA Withdrawn

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development/Agricultural Need
It should be noted that the applicant holds 107 hectares of land. All of the land falls within South 
Devon AONB and part of the holding to the west of the application site falls within the Undeveloped 
Coast and the Heritage Coast. Under Permitted Development rights (Part 6, Class A of The General 
Permitted Development Order 2015 (as amended)), the applicant is entitled to construct a building of 
up to 1000 m2, provided that the building is reasonably necessary for the purposes of agriculture 
within that unit, subject to certain conditions. As such, the current application is considered in the 
context that the applicant benefits from a fallback position under Permitted Development rights. 

Development in the countryside must be considered in the context of policy TTV26. Due to the 
proximity of Stokenham, the proposal is not considered to be truly isolated and therefore, the second 
part of the policy applies. 
2. Development proposals should, where appropriate: 
i. Protect and improve public rights of way and bridleways. 
ii. Re-use traditional buildings that are structurally sound enough for renovation without significant 
enhancement or alteration. 
iii. Be complementary to and not prejudice any viable agricultural operations on a farm and other 
existing viable uses. 
iv. Respond to a proven agricultural, forestry and other occupational need that requires a countryside 
location. 
v. Avoid the use of Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land. 
vi. Help enhance the immediate setting of the site and include a management plan and exit strategy 
that demonstrates how long term degradation of the landscape and natural environment will be 
avoided.

It is also noted that Public Rights of Way (PROW) Stokenham Byway 35 runs to the north west of the 
site and Stokenham Footpath 13 to the north east. Policy TTV26 Clause 2(i) requires that proposals; 
“protect and improve public rights of way and bridleways”. The proposal does not obstruct the PROW 
and on this basis, the proposal is considered to accord with the first part of TTV26 (2i). It is noted that 
the proposal does not “improve” the public rights of way, however, this element is not considered 
applicable in the context of the current application.

Page 45



Policy TTV26 (2iii) requires that proposals are “complementary to and not prejudice any viable 
agricultural operations on a farm and other existing viable uses,” clause (2iv) requires that proposals 
“respond to a proven agricultural, forestry and other occupational need that requires a countryside 
location” and clause (5) of policy DEV15 states that; “development will be supported which meets the 
essential needs of agriculture or forestry interests”. The Council’s Agricultural Consultant has 
assessed the proposal and has confirmed that the proposal is agriculturally justified, designed to meet 
that agricultural need and is sited to meet that agricultural need. It is noted that supporters have 
commented that the proposal will facilitate improved working on the farm. As such, Officers consider 
that in terms of policy TTV26, the proposal is policy compliant. Officers have reservations regarding 
the siting in terms of policy DEV25 which is considered in more detail later in this report.

Clause 2(v) requires that proposals avoid the use of “Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land.” 
According to Natural England Survey Data (2014). The entire holding spans an area classified as both 
Grade 2 and Grade 3, however, the land available on the west side of the holding within the 
applicant’s ownership falls within the Grade 2 area and this is the only area that would meet the 
requirements for vehicular access. Furthermore, the land to the east of the holding falls within the 
Heritage Coast and the Undeveloped Coast, where development is assessed under policy DEV24. 
Proposals in this area must demonstrate that they (1) require a coastal location and (2) cannot 
reasonably be located outside the Undeveloped Coast. The proposal does not specifically require a 
coastal location and can be accommodated outside this policy area (which is indeed what the 
applicant has proposed). In this context, whilst the proposed siting is on an area of Grade 2 
agricultural land, when balanced against the requirements for siting and the policy restrictions under 
DEV24 Officers consider that no other land of lesser agricultural quality is available as an alternative 
site. 

Policy TTV26 (2vi) requires that proposals “help enhance the immediate setting of the site and include 
a management plan and exit strategy that demonstrates how long term degradation of the landscape 
and natural environment will be avoided”. The first part of this clause is considered under 
“Design/Landscape” below but it is considered that were the development otherwise acceptable the 
second part of the clause could be dealt with through a suitably worded condition. This condition 
would require that the building is removed when it is no longer required for the purposes of 
agricultural and that the land is returned to its former use. In addition, a Construction and 
Environmental Management Plan, to include a landscaping and management scheme, would need to 
be submitted to the LPA prior to the demolition of any building on the site, to demonstrate how long 
term degradation of the landscape and natural environment will be avoided. On this basis, the 
proposal would be considered to accord with the provisions of TTV26 (2vi).

On balance, the proposal is considered agriculturally justified and appropriately designed to meet the 
needs of the agricultural operation. Were the development otherwise acceptable in terms of its siting, 
Officers consider that it would be necessary to restrict the use of this building to agricultural purposes 
only as the development is considered acceptable for the use proposed in a countryside location, and 
would be permitted on the basis of an agricultural need without which permission would not have 
been granted. This condition would satisfy the comments set out in the Parish Council’s consultation 
response, as they support the proposal based on its agricultural need. On this basis, the proposal is 
considered to accord with the provisions of TTV26 and DEV15.

Design/Landscape
All of the holding is sited within the South Devon Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, an area that is 
afforded protection from potentially damaging or inappropriate development under policy DEV25 and 
paragraph 172 of the NPPF. Officers accept that the proposal is agriculturally justified and is designed 
to reflect the stated agricultural need; in addition, Officers are mindful of the PD fallback for the 
holding. Officers also accept that the proposal needs to be sited on the western side of the holding in 
order to meet its stated agricultural need and as it cannot be justified under the provisions of DEV24. 

Page 46



The key issue relates to the proposed siting of the development, which Officers consider to be unduly 
visually prominent within the sensitive landscape of the South Devon AONB. In cases where the LPA 
accepts that a proposal is agriculturally justified, proposals still need to conserve and enhance the 
landscape and scenic beauty of the AONB, as the current policy framework as set out in the JLP does 
not allow for the impacts of harmful development to be balanced against that agricultural need, rather 
that proposals must comply with both TTV26 and DEV25 in order to be supported (as identified in R. 
(on the application of Cross) v Cornwall Council, 2021).

Policy DEV25 requires that decision makers (2) “give great weight to conserving landscape and 
scenic beauty in the protected landscapes” and ensure that proposals (8ii) “conserve and enhance 
the natural beauty of the protected landscape” and are (8ii) “designed to prevent the addition of 
incongruous features”. The Case Officer and the applicant have engaged in extensive dialogue during 
the life of the application in order to understand why the proposed location has been selected and 
ensure that appropriate supporting information was provided. However, the Council’s Landscape 
Officer has objected to the proposed siting of the development, stating that, “It is considered that the 
proposed development in landscape and visual terms would have an unacceptable effect on the 
character and appearance of the protected landscape of the AONB outlined in the NPPF and would 
not be consistent with polices DEV23 or DEV25 of the JLP”. It is noted that supporters of the scheme 
have commented that the proposed landscaping scheme will have a beneficial effect on the area 
however, Officers note that this is designed as mitigation for the proposal, rather than as a positive 
addition to the area in its own right.

The Landscape Officer reviewed the original submission and noted that;
“The site is located in the 5a Inland Elevated Undulating Plateau landscape character type (LCT). The 
key characteristics and attributes of the LCT include its elevated nature, sparse upland woodland, a 
mixture of field sizes and origins, narrow winding valley lanes and straighter roads on the upland 
areas, a generally sparse settlement pattern with isolated farmsteads, a sense of remoteness and, 
open views where hedgerows are low or absent.

Visual Impact
The application is supported by a Landscape Appraisal Report dated 11th September 2020. The 
methodology for the Landscape Appraisal, which also looks at landscape character, is understood but 
not all the findings are agreed with. In particular, that the proposed development will bring about an 
acceptable level of harm visually or on the local landscape character.

Paragraph 4.1 of the Landscape Appraisal states that the landscape is a robust one and can 
accommodate a barn development provided that it is sensitively designed. I do not consider that the 
design of the proposed barn is particularly sensitive. It is a standard utilitarian building that if it were 
within an existing grouping of other similar farm buildings might be acceptable but not so in this highly 
sensitive location where there is no other built form nearby.

The Landscape Appraisal shows that the proposed development is in an elevated location and that 
there would be an effect on visual amenity and the appearance of the landscape. In order to reduce 
and mitigate these effects to a number of woodland copses are proposed in the corner of the field in 
which the barn would be sited.

Protected Landscape
The site and the host landscape are entirely within the South Devon AONB. The AONB’s planning 
guidance discourages development such as that proposed, which would introduce built form into a 
part of the landscape where no such development has previously existed. This aspect of the 
proposals is very clearly demonstrated by the submitted Landscape Appraisal, whose plans show an 
absence of other built form nearby and shows the ‘remoteness’ of the landscape.

The Landscape Appraisal claims that there would be no increase in vehicle/people activity as a result 
of the proposals. However, the barn is intended specifically for storing vehicles and equipment, and 
will be accessed by articulated lorries. It is considered that this level of activity would have an adverse 

Page 47



on the tranquillity of the AONB in this location, especially from the base line of an undeveloped 
agricultural field.

The proposals are located on the outer western edge of the applicant’s landholding. The rationale for 
siting the proposals on the application site, rather than as integral part of the main farmstead, is to 
avoid vehicular movement through the built up area of Stokenham. However, whether the proposed 
development on the application site would have this result is not clearly demonstrated.

Detailed Design / Landscape Design
The mitigation, as shown on plan ML/00F/02 revision F, would take time, several years, to establish 
and mature”.

Additional information was subsequently provided by the applicant but this failed to provide a 
comprehensive rationale for the proposed location and on this basis, the Landscape Officer 
maintained their objection. Officers are mindful of the agricultural need for the proposal and have 
engaged in extensive discussion with the applicant in order to resolve the issue of siting. The 
discussions were productive and the applicant had indicated that they would prepare a revised 
proposal in order to reflect a less visually prominent site within their holding which the LPA could 
support but changed their mind at a later date and as such, the proposal has been determined on the 
basis of the plans as submitted.

On this basis, the proposed development would appear incongruous and unduly visually prominent, 
failing to conserve and enhance the landscape and scenic beauty of this part of the South Devon 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, contrary to the provisions of STP1 (2iii, 3v), SPT2 (10), SPT12 
(1, 4), TTV1 (4), DEV23 (1, 3, 3, 4, 6, 7), DEV25 (8) of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint 
Local Plan 2014-2034, the National Planning Policy Framework (notably but not limited to paragraph 
172), the guidance set out in Section 8.6 of the South Devon AONB Management Plan – Planning 
Guidance and the guidance set out in the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 
Supplementary Planning Document 2020, including but not limited to paragraphs, 7.42 to 7.62.

Archaeology
The proposal has been reviewed by the Devon County Council Historic Environment Team who have 
confirmed that the proposal is sited “in an area of archaeological potential c. 90m north of a 
prehistoric or Romano-British ditched enclosure”. Were the development considered otherwise 
acceptable, it would have been necessary to secure the details of a Written Scheme of Investigation 
“to ensure that an appropriate record is made of archaeological evidence that may be affected by the 
development”. It would have been necessary for the condition to have been discharged prior to 
commencement “to ensure that the archaeological works are agreed and implemented prior to any 
disturbance of archaeological deposits by the commencement of preparatory and/or construction 
works”. On this basis, the proposal is considered to accord with the provisions of policies SPT11 and 
DEV21 and this element does not form a substantive reason for refusal.

Neighbour Amenity
Due to the scale, nature and siting of the proposal, it is not considered that the scheme would result in 
a detrimental impact on residential amenity. As such, the proposal is considered to accord with the 
provisions of DEV1 and DEV2.

Surface Water Drainage
The South Hams District Council Drainage Engineer has reviewed the proposal and has 
recommended a surface water drainage condition to secure the details of a suitable surface water 
drainage scheme. It is considered appropriate to secure these details by condition to ensure surface 
water runoff does not increase to the detriment of the public highway or other local properties as a 
result of the development. On this basis, the proposal is considered to accord with the provisions of 
DEV35 and this does not form a substantive reason for refusal.

Page 48



Highways/Access
The proposal seeks to use an existing vehicular access to the development site which is acceptable in 
principle as this access is currently in use for agricultural vehicles. Supporters of the proposal have 
cited benefits for the residents of Stokenham in terms of a reduction in large articulated vehicles 
passing through the village and a reduction in associated traffic noise. Officers note these comments 
but have not been provided with evidence to demonstrate that such a reduction in traffic movements 
warrant a significant public benefit in terms of highways safety improvements. As such, these matters 
are given little weight in the decision making process.

The Devon County Council Highways Engineer has not raised any concerns with respect to highways 
safety nor have they commented in terms of any potential improvement to highways safety. As such, 
it is not considered that the proposal will result in either a significant increased risk to highways safety 
or significant benefit in terms of highways safety improvements. The proposal is therefore compliant 
with policy DEV29 and this does not form a substantive reason for refusal.

Trees
The South Hams District Council Tree Officer has reviewed the scheme and has confirmed that they 
have no objection to the proposal on arboricultural merit. As such, the proposal is considered to 
accord with the provisions of DEV28. 

Conclusion
The proposed development would appear incongruous and unduly visually prominent, failing to 
conserve and enhance the landscape and scenic beauty of this part of the South Devon Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, contrary to the provisions of STP1 (2iii, 3v), SPT2 (10), SPT12 (1, 4), 
TTV1 (4), DEV23 (1, 3, 3, 4, 6, 7), DEV25 (8) of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 
2014-2034, the National Planning Policy Framework (notably but not limited to paragraph 172), the 
guidance set out in Section 8.6 of the South Devon AONB Management Plan – Planning Guidance 
and the guidance set out in the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan Supplementary 
Planning Document 2020, including but not limited to paragraphs, 7.42 to 7.62. As such, the 
application is recommended for refusal.

This application has been considered in accordance with Section 38 of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Planning Policy

Relevant policy framework
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the 
development plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the 2004 
Planning and Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  For the purposes of decision 
making, as of 26 March 2019, the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 is now 
part of the development plan for Plymouth City Council, South Hams District Council and West Devon 
Borough Council (other than parts of South Hams and West Devon within Dartmoor National Park).

The relevant development plan policies are set out below:

The Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by South Hams District 
Council on 21 March 2019 and West Devon Borough Council on 26 March 2019.

SPT1 Delivering sustainable development
SPT2 Sustainable linked neighbourhoods and sustainable rural communities
SPT9 Strategic principles for transport planning and strategy
SPT10 Balanced transport strategy for growth and healthy and sustainable communities
SPT11 Strategic approach to the Historic environment
SPT12 Strategic approach to the natural environment

Page 49



TTV1 Prioritising growth through a hierarchy of sustainable settlements
TTV2 Delivering sustainable development in the Thriving Towns and Villages Policy Area
TTV26 Development in the Countryside
DEV1 Protecting health and amenity
DEV2 Air, water, soil, noise, land and light
DEV15 Supporting the rural economy
DEV20 Place shaping and the quality of the built environment
DEV21 Development affecting the historic environment
DEV23 Landscape character
DEV24 Undeveloped coast and Heritage Coast
DEV25 Nationally protected landscapes
DEV26 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation
DEV28 Trees, woodlands and hedgerows
DEV29 Specific provisions relating to transport
DEV31 Waste management
DEV32 Delivering low carbon development
DEV35 Managing flood risk and Water Quality Impacts 

Other material considerations include the policies of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
including but not limited to paragraphs 170, 172 and 173 and guidance within the Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG). Additionally, the following planning documents are also material considerations in 
the determination of the application: South Devon Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management 
Plan (2019-2024), Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan Supplementary Planning 
Document 2020.

Considerations under Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 have been taken into account 
in reaching the recommendation contained in this report.

Page 50



PLANNING APPLICATION REPORT 

Case Officer:  Elizabeth Arnold                  Parish:  Berry Pomeroy   Ward:  Marldon and 
Littlehempston

Application No:  0176/21/FUL

Agent/Applicant:
James Lock - Roderick James Architects 
LLP
Discovery House
Steamer Quay Road
Totnes
Devon
TQ9 5AL

Applicant:
Thomas Morris
Old Mill Cottage
Mill Hill
Stoke Gabriel
Devon
TQ9 6RD

Site Address:  Marlands Farm, Newton Road, Totnes, TQ9 6LS

Development:  Erection of self-build/custom-build house 

Reason item is being put before Committee Applicant is a Council employee

Recommendation: Refusal

Reasons for refusal 

1. The development does not have a reasonable access to a vibrant mixed use centre 
which meets daily community needs or is well served by public transport, walking or 
cycling opportunities and would therefore be reliant on the private car. As a result the 
development is not considered to support the principles of sustainable development and 
is contrary to Policies SPT1 and SPT2 and Policy TTV1 of the Plymouth and South West 
Devon Joint Local Plan and the JLP SPD.

Key issues for consideration:
Principle/Sustainable Development

Page 51

Agenda Item 6e



Design/Landscape
Neighbour Amenity
Highways/Access
Living conditions for future occupiers
Flood Risk and drainage
Sustainability
Biodiversity

Financial Implications (Potential New Homes Bonus for major applications):
As part of the Spending Review 2020, the Chancellor announced that there will be a further 
round of New Homes Bonus allocations under the current scheme for 2021/22. This year is 
the last year's allocation of New Homes Bonus (which was based on dwellings built out by 
October 2020).  The Government has stated that they will soon be inviting views on how they 
can reform the New Homes Bonus scheme from 2022-23, to ensure it is focused where 
homes are needed most.

Site Description:
The application site is situated on the northern side of Marlands Farm complex and 
comprises an area of approximately 340sqm. The farm is set back 120m to the west of the 
A381 Totnes to Newton Abbot road and is accessed by a long driveway, which serves 
Marlands Farmhouse, Marlands Bungalow and nos. 1-4 Swallow Cottages, which are a 
group of historic barn conversions. 

The area is rural in character and appearance, with open fields to the west, north and east of 
the site. Approximately 65m to the north west of the site, is a small residential development, 
that appears to have been approved on previously developed land in the 1990’s. Totnes is 
situated approximately 375m to the south on the other side of the river Dart.

Part of the site is located within Flood Zones 2 and 3, and a Critical Drainage Area. The site 
also lies within a Special Area of Conservation

The Proposal:
The proposal is for the erection of a self-build/custom-build house. 

Consultations:

 County Highways Authority
No objections

 Drainage
No objection to the foul and surface water drainage

 Town/Parish Council
No comments to make

Representations:
6 letters of support have been received advising:

- Affordable housing is needed in the area.
- Self-build houses are a way for people to be able to own their own properties.

Page 52



- Renting is so expensive and for many puts too much strain on their finances without 
any beneficial long term outcome

- Local Councils should support self-build projects
- Well presented and provides good substantiation for the site, which should be 

regarded as perfectly sustainable.
- Not visible from the road
- Adding a small property onto an existing, well established development for use of a 

local family
- Using existing services low impact on the environment
- Sufficient car parking
- Minimal additional traffic with little or no impact on highways
- Close to shops, schools and public transport
- Low level design will have little impact on the environment and is in keeping with the 

existing properties and the surroundings

1 letter of representation was also submitted raising the following issues:
- Concern the proposal may affect the right of access to the existing garage, both during 

construction or thereafter
- It is our understanding that the gap between the corner of the garage and the gate and 

field will be widened to mitigate this. If this is not planned then we request this is done 
such that a car can be parked temporarily in front of the garage without restricting 
access

Relevant Planning History
2939/20/PR4 – Pre-application enquiry for self-build home (no officer support)

03/0298/99/F – Erection of garages for converted barns 1, 2 and 3 (approved April 1999)

03/1442/98/3 – Alterations, new roof and vertical tile hanging (approved October 1998)

03/1191/98/3 – Alterations and new roof (approved September 1998)

03/0434/97/3 – Conversion of barns to four dwellings (approved May 1997)

03/0452/97/3 – Extension to farmhouse (approved May 1997)

ANALYSIS

Principle of Development/Sustainability:
The Council’s local plan ‘Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan’ 2014 - 2034 
(JLP) was adopted in March 2019.  Policies SPT1, SPT2 and SPT3 relate to the delivery of 
sustainable development and underpin other JLP policies including TTV1.  

Policy SPT2 advises development should support the overall spatial strategy through the 
creation of communities which have reasonable access to a vibrant mixed use centre, which 
meets daily community needs such as neighbourhood shops, health and wellbeing services 
and community facilities. It also advises that they should be well served by public transport, 
walking and cycling opportunities.

Policy TTV1 sets out the strategy for locating new homes and jobs based on a hierarchy of 
settlements ranging in size from the main towns to smaller villages, hamlets and the 
countryside.  In the smallest villages, hamlets and in the countryside, development is only 

Page 53



permissible where it can be demonstrated to support the principles of sustainable 
development. 

Totnes is identified within the JLP as one of the main towns and a key strategic location for 
the provision of new development within the plan area.  The JLP does not define settlement 
boundaries but as stated in paragraph 5.5 of the JLP, ‘development outside built up areas will 
be considered in the context of Policy TTV26 – Development in the Countryside.’  

While the site is within fairly close proximity to Totnes, owing to the rural characteristics of the 
site, the distance from the edge of the settlement and the fact the site is on the other side of 
the river, which forms a hard boundary between the town and the countryside, it is consider 
that the site falls within the countryside. Strategically this location is the least preferred option 
for new dwellings. Therefore when assessing the proposal against the settlement hierarchy 
set out in policy TTV1, development on this site would be assessed against the bottom tier 
TTV1.4 ‘smaller villages, hamlets and the countryside’.  In these locations the policy states 
that development will be permitted only if it can be ‘demonstrated to support the principles of 
sustainable development and sustainable communities (Policies SPT1 and SPT2) including 
as provided for in Policies TTV26 and TTV27.’

Policy TTV26 (Development in the Countryside) advises that the LPA’s will protect the 
special characteristics and role of the countryside. Isolated development in the countryside 
will be avoided and only permitted in exceptional circumstances.

Policy TTV27 (Meeting local housing needs in rural areas) advises that proposals for 
residential development on sites adjoining or very near to existing settlements may be 
permitted if it can demonstrate that it meets a proven need for affordable housing for local 
people and meets the requirements of all other relevant policies of the Plan.

Whilst it is noted that the proposal is for the provision of an affordable self-build property, in 
order to comply with the requirements of Policy TTV27, it must also comply with all other 
relevant policies of the Plan. The site lies around 0.4KM from the northern edge of Totnes 
and around 0.8Km from the round-about off the A381 on the approach into the town.  The 
site is well beyond the aspirational distances set out within figure 3.2 of Policy SPT2 and 
there is very poor connectively into the town with no safe options for pedestrians.  The A381 
approach road into Totnes is a busy and fast ‘A’ road with no pavements.  There is a bus 
stop close to the site, located off the main road to the north but to access this is poor and 
occupiers of the dwelling would still need to walk about 160m along the busy ‘A’ road.  Any 
pedestrian journeys along this road would be unsafe and would pose a risk to human safety.  
Therefore in reality it is likely that the occupiers of the property would be heavily reliant on a 
private motor vehicle which is not a sustainable approach to development.

Therefore it is considered that the proposal would fail to comply with the principles of Policies 
ST1, ST2, TTV1, TTV26 and TTV27 of the adopted Local Plan.   .

Design/Landscape:
Policy DEV10 advises that housing development should be of a high quality in terms of 
design and resilience and provide adequate space to achieve good living standards. Housing 
development should be designed to integrate within adjacent developments and not appear 
an unrelated addition.

The site currently comprises a small undeveloped plot of land to the north of the Marlands 
Farm complex, which comprises a block of buildings in the centre including Marlands 

Page 54



Farmhouse and the attached Marlands Bungalow, with a horseshoe of 4 barn conversions 
opposite. There is a further detached garage building to the north and immediately adjacent 
to the application site. The access to the proposed dwelling is through the driveway serving 
the existing properties.

The proposed dwelling measures 13.75m in width and 6.95m in depth, set beneath a steeply 
pitched roof of 6m in height. The building has been designed to reflect a tradition barn form 
which would not be out of keeping with the adjacent buildings and would integrate within the 
site, when viewed from the surrounding countryside. 
The style and materials proposed are reflective of the rural character of the area and the 
presence of the existing hedgerow surrounding the plot, would also help screen it from the 
wider area.

Therefore given the scale and design of the buildings, it is considered that the proposal would 
not be harmful to the character and appearance of the wider area.

Neighbour Amenity:
The site is situated in a relatively isolated location, with the nearest dwellings Marlands 
Bungalow and 1 Swallow Cottages, situated approximately 28m to the south. The closest 
property within The Bourtons, to the east of the site is approximately 132m away. Given the 
topography of the area and the degree of separation, it is considered that the development 
can be accommodated on this site without adversely impacting on the amenities of the 
neighbouring occupiers.

Highways/Access:
There is an existing access to the site via the driveway which serves the existing properties 
on the site. It is considered that one additional residential unit would not result in a significant 
increase of traffic movements to or from the site to the detriment of highway safety. The 
proposal would include the provision of 2 parking spaces in accordance with policy 
requirements.

The proposal is therefore not considered to raise any highway safety concerns and the 
Highways Officer has not raised any objections to the proposal.

Living conditions for future occupiers
DEV 10 advises that housing development should be of a high quality in terms of design and 
resilience and provide adequate space to achieve good living standards

The Nationally Described Space Standards advise that a single bedroom should be no less 
than 7.5sqm and a double bedroom of 11sqm. The proposal is submitted with an indicative 
layout of 3 bedrooms (2 double and 1 single) and would provide a floor area of 129.55sqm. 
However, whilst the two double bedrooms as shown would have a floor area in excess of 
11.5sqm, one of the ground floor bedrooms would have a floor area of just 6.85sqm, below 
the standard required for a single bedroom. As such the proposal would only provide suitable 
accommodation for a 2 bed, 4 person dwelling and should be considered as such. The Space 
Standards advise that a 2 bed, 4 person house should have a minimum floor area of 79sqm. 
Therefore adequate space would be provided.

Dev 10 further advises that sufficient external amenity space should be provided. The 
Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 Supplementary Planning 
Document states that for a detached dwelling there would be a minimum requirement of 

Page 55



100sqm. The property would benefit from a rear garden area of approximately 156.5sqm, in 
compliance with these requirements.

It is therefore considered that the proposal would provide an appropriate living environment.

Flood Risk and Drainage
The site is partially located in a high risk flood zone (i.e. flood one 2 & 3), however this 
extends over the proposed garden area, with the proposed dwelling located within flood zone 
1. It is therefore considered that this is an appropriate site for residential development subject 
to conditions, if all other aspect of the proposal were acceptable.

Sustainability
The proposed dwelling would be constructed off site of timber framing with insulated panel 
and larch cladding, with the heating and hot water provided by an air source heat pump. 

Biodiversity / Ecology
The South Hams Council Wildlife Trigger table has been submitted with the application. This 
confirms that there would be no demolition works proposed and no works to exiting roofs, 
cladding etc. No trees or hedgerows on the site are to be removed as a result of this proposal 
and there is no evidence of protected species on the site. 

Other Matters
The applicant has advised that they would be willing to enter into a Section 106 agreement 
for the property being offered as an affordable self/custom build permanent home with a local 
connection and a price cap of 80% of the Open Market Value. Checking recent sales for 
detached 2 or 3 bed properties within the area gives a price range of £295,000 - £405,000 (2 
bed) and £357,00 - £532,500 (3 bed). Whilst noting for that within planning constraints this 
proposal has been considered as a 2 bed unit, the submitted floor plans identify 3 bedrooms 
and there would be nothing to stop them from advertising it as such.

Conclusion
There is an in principle objection to the proposal due to its siting in an unsustainable location. 
It is therefore recommended for refusal.

This application has been considered in accordance with Section 38 of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Planning Policy

Relevant policy framework
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the 
development plan, any local finance and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of 
the 2004 Planning and Compensation Act requires that applications are to be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
For the purposes of decision making, as of March 26th 2019, the Plymouth & South West 
Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 is now part of the development plan for Plymouth City 
Council, South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Council (other than parts of 
South Hams and West Devon within Dartmoor National Park).

The relevant development plan policies are set out below:

Page 56



The Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan was adopted by South Hams 
District Council on March 21st 2019 and West Devon Borough Council on March 26th 
2019.

SPT1 Delivering sustainable development
SPT2 Sustainable linked neighbourhoods and sustainable rural communities
SPT3 Provision for new homes
SPT9 Strategic principles for transport planning and strategy
SPT10 Balanced transport strategy for growth and healthy and sustainable communities
TTV1 Prioritising growth through a hierarchy of sustainable settlements
TTV2 Delivering sustainable development in the Thriving Towns and Villages Policy Area
TTV26 Development in the Countryside
TTV27 Meeting local housing needs in rural areas
DEV1 Protecting health and amenity
DEV2 Air, water, soil, noise, land and light
DEV9 Meeting local housing need in the Plan Area
DEV10 Delivering high quality housing
DEV20 Place shaping and the quality of the built environment
DEV23 Landscape character
DEV25 Nationally protected landscapes
DEV26 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation
DEV28 Trees, woodlands and hedgerows
DEV29 Specific provisions relating to transport
DEV32 Delivering low carbon development
DEV33 Renewable and low carbon energy (including heat)
DEV35 Managing flood risk and Water Quality Impacts 
Other material considerations include the policies of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) and guidance in Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). Additionally, the following 
planning documents are also material considerations in the determination of the application: 

Considerations under Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 and Equalities Act 2010 have been taken into 
account in reaching the recommendation contained in this report.

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



South Hams District Council

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 28-Jul-21
Appeals Update from 11-Jun-21 to 16-Jul-21

Allington and StreteWard

3754/20/HHOAPPLICATION NUMBER: APP/K1128/D/21/3269355

APPELLANT NAME: Mr & Mrs N. Feltham

PROPOSAL: Householder application for extension to create garage, utility

      space and storage. Alterations to existing barn (resubmission of      1156/20/HHO)

LOCATION: Winnowers, Barnston Farm  East Allington    TQ9 7PZ Officer member delegated

APPEAL STATUS: Appeal decided

26-April-2021APPEAL START DATE:

Dismissed (Refusal)APPEAL DECISION:

17-June-2021APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Dartmouth and East DartWard

3680/20/FULAPPLICATION NUMBER: APP/K1128/W/21/3273733

APPELLANT NAME: Libra Investments Ltd

PROPOSAL: Creation of 14 bay car park and associated landscaping works

LOCATION: Land at SX 875 510  Jawbones Hill Dartmouth   Officer member delegated

APPEAL STATUS: Appeal Lodged

01-July-2021APPEAL START DATE:

APPEAL DECISION:

APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Ermington and UgboroughWard

4244/20/HHOAPPLICATION NUMBER: APP/K1128/D/21/3271219

APPELLANT NAME: Mr Tony Hopwood

PROPOSAL: Householder application for single storey rear extension

LOCATION: 2 Erme Bridge Cottages  Ermington    PL21 9NN Officer member delegated

APPEAL STATUS: Appeal Lodged

21-June-2021APPEAL START DATE:

APPEAL DECISION:

APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Newton and YealmptonWard

1978/20/FULAPPLICATION NUMBER: APP/K1128/W/21/3269800

APPELLANT NAME: Vincent Tractors and Plant

PROPOSAL: Retrospective change of use of building/yard (agricultural contractinguse) to use for 

agricultural engineering business (resubmission of    2447/19/FUL)

LOCATION: Land at Choakford Corner  Plympton Plymouth   Officer member delegated

APPEAL STATUS: Appeal decided

12-April-2021APPEAL START DATE:

UpheldAPPEAL DECISION:

15-June-2021APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Salcombe and ThurlestoneWard

3553/20/PATAPPLICATION NUMBER: APP/K1128/W/21/3272459

APPELLANT NAME: EE Ltd

PROPOSAL: Application to determine if prior approval is required for proposed

  11m telecommunications pole and associated development

LOCATION: Agricultural Land at SX 690 407  North Of Galmpton 

Galmpton   TQ7 3EL
Officer delegated

APPEAL STATUS: Appeal Withdrawn

25-May-2021APPEAL START DATE:

WithdrawnAPPEAL DECISION:

21-June-2021APPEAL DECISION DATE:

3966/20/HHOAPPLICATION NUMBER: APP/K1128/D/21/3273376

APPELLANT NAME: Mrs Alex Perkins Page 59

Agenda Item 7



PROPOSAL: Householder application for reinstatement of historic vehicular

       access, with associated works and landscaping

LOCATION: Cross Garden Cottage  Market Street Salcombe   TQ8 8DE Officer delegated

APPEAL STATUS: Appeal Lodged

21-June-2021APPEAL START DATE:

APPEAL DECISION:

APPEAL DECISION DATE:

StokenhamWard

3392/20/HHOAPPLICATION NUMBER: APP/K1128/D/21/3272383

APPELLANT NAME: Mr & Mrs Phillips

PROPOSAL: Householder application for alterations to existing outbuilding

      including mezzanine floor, 1 no. dormer window, new wall and roof     (resubmission of 

0928/20/HHO)

LOCATION: Wild Apple Barn, Muckwell Barns  Muckwell Farm To 

Bickerton Beeson Devon  TQ7 2EW
Officer delegated

APPEAL STATUS: Appeal decided

19-May-2021APPEAL START DATE:

Dismissed (Refusal)APPEAL DECISION:

08-July-2021APPEAL DECISION DATE:

Page 60



1

Development Management Committee 28 July 2021
Undetermined Major applications as at 14-July-21

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
0612/16/OPA Patrick Whymer 8-Aug-16 7-Nov-16

Brimhay Bungalows Road Past Forder Lane House Outline planning application with all matters reserved for            
Dartington Devon TQ9 6HQ redevelopment of Brimhay Bungalows. Demolition of 18 

Bungalows to construct 12 Apartments, 8 units of specialist 
Housing for Robert Owens Community Clients and up to 10 open 
Market homes.

Comment: This Application was approved by Committee subject to a Section 106 Agreement.  The Section 106 Agreement has 
not progressed.

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
3704/16/FUL Charlotte Howrihane 22-Nov-16 21-Feb-17 1-Aug-21

  Creek Close Frogmore Kingsbridge TQ7 2FG Retrospective application to alter boundary and new site layout
(Following planning approval 43/2855/14/F)

Comment: Section 106 is with applicant to sign. They are waiting for the S38 agreement to be completed with Highways before 
signing the S106.   

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
3749/16/VAR Charlotte Howrihane 23-Nov-16 22-Feb-17 1-Aug-21

Development Site Of Sx 7752 4240 Creek Close Variation of condition 2 (revised site layout plan) following grant
Frogmore Kingsbridge TQ7 2FG  of planning permission 43/2855/14/F

Comment: see above for 3704/16/FUL. Agent has confirmed that this application will be withdrawn once the full application has 
been determined, 

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
3628/17/FUL Patrick Whymer 20-Nov-17 19-Feb-18 28-Feb-21

Oak Tree Field at SX 778 588 Tristford Road Harberton Erection of 12 dwellings, workshop/office, associated landscaping 
Devon  and site development works

Comment: Application approved by committee subject to conditions and S106.  The S106 has been agreed by the applicant but 
are awaiting the land purchase to complete before completing the S106.

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
3445/18/FUL Elizabeth Arnold 29-Nov-18 28-Feb-19 4-Jan-21

  Land at SX 580 576 Adjoining Seaton Orchard Sparkwell  Construction of new housing development comprising 20 
PL7 5HX dwellings.

Comment: Application approved subject to a S106 which is anticipated to be completed soon.

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
0936/19/ARM Bryn Kitching 15-Mar-19 14-Jun-19 31-Dec-21

Land at SX 857 508 adjacent to Townstal Road West of Application for approval of reserved matter following outline 
Dartmouth approval 15_51/1710/14/O (Appeal APP/K1128/W/15/3039104) 

for layout, scale, appearance and landscaping for 240 
dwellings, public open space, highways, landscaping and 
associated works and approval of details reserved by conditions
6, 7, 8, 9 & 12 of planning consent 15_51/1710/14/O 
(Appeal APP/K1128/W/15/3039104)

Comment: Application on hold while layout designs are finalised and submitted for adjoining site and remainder of the allocation.  
This will allow for comprehensive consideration of reserved matters for the whole of the local plan allocation.  As reserved matters 
consent was granted in February 2020 for 116 dwellings on part of the same site, this application will be amended to the balance 
of residential which can then be considered alongside the forthcoming reserved matters applications.

Page 61

Agenda Item 8



1

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
2133/19/VAR Cheryl Stansbury 12-Jul-19 11-Oct-19 30-Apr-21

  Cottage Hotel Hope Cove   TQ7 3HJ READVERTISEMENT (Revised Plans Received) Application for 
variation of condition 2 of planning consent 46/2401/14/F

Comment: Application to be presented to DM Committee meeting.

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
3197/19/OPA Cheryl Stansbury 2-Oct-19 1-Jan-20 29-Jan-21

  Land adjacent to New Park Road Lee Mill Nr Ivybridge  Outline application with some matters reserved for residential        
development of up to 25 residential units including vehicular 
access, estate roads, landscaping, open space, drainage, 
infrastructure and   all associated development (resubmission of 
1303/18/OPA)

Comment: Section 106 is with the applicant and likely to be completed soon.  

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
3886/19/VAR Tom French 28-Nov-19 27-Feb-20 31-Mar-21

Sherford New Community  Land South and South West of Application for variation of conditions 1, 2, and 4 of planning
A38 Deep Lane junction and East of Haye Road Elburton permission 0490/19/ARM
Plymouth  

Comment

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
4181/19/OPA Ian Lloyd 9-Jan-20 9-Apr-20 18-Dec-20

Land off Towerfield Drive  Woolwell Part of the Land at Outline application for up to 360 dwellings and associated            
Woolwell JLP Allocation (Policy PLY44)  landscaping, new access points from Towerfield Drive and Pick 

Pie     Drive and site infrastructure. All matters reserved except 
for access.

Comment: The previously anticipated timescale for September 2021 Committee consideration, agreed under the PPA between 
Barwood Land and South Hams District Council, needs to be extended by mutual agreement. This is to allow further time to be 
spent on developing the heads of terms for the s106 and planning conditions, which includes agreeing appropriate trigger points 
for the delivery of and/or financial contributions to secure the delivery of the (allocation-wide) infrastructure and community facilities 
and mitigation requirements, as per the PLY44 policy/requirements. It is to also allow time for statutory consultation. An update will 
be provided when a new timetable has been agreed..

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
4185/19/OPA Ian Lloyd 9-Jan-20 9-Apr-20 18-Dec-20

Land at Woolwell  Part of the Land at Woolwell JLP Outline application for provision of up to 1,640 new dwellings; up 
Allocation (Policy PLY44)    to

1,200 sqm of commercial, retail and community floorspace 
(A1-A5, D1   and D2 uses); a new primary school; areas of public 
open space including a community park; new sport and 
playing facilities; new access points and vehicular, cycle and 
pedestrian links; strategic    landscaping and attenuation basins; 
a primary substation and other associated site infrastructure. All 
matters reserved except for access.

Comment: The previously anticipated timescale for September 2021 Committee consideration, agreed under the PPA between 
Barwood Land and South Hams District Council, needs to be extended by mutual agreement. This is to allow further time to be 
spent on developing the heads of terms for the s106 and planning conditions, which includes agreeing appropriate trigger points 
for the delivery of and/or financial contributions to secure the delivery of the (allocation-wide) infrastructure and community facilities 
and mitigation requirements, as per the PLY44 policy/requirements. It is to also allow time for statutory consultation. An update will 
be provided when a new timetable has been agreed.

Page 62



1

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
4158/19/FUL Cheryl Stansbury 17-Jan-20 17-Apr-20 6-Feb-21

Development Site At Sx 734 439, Land to Northwest of READVERTISEMENT (Revised Plans Received) Residential 
Junction between Ropewalk and Kingsway Park Ropewalk development comprising of 15 modular built dwellings with    
Kingsbridge Devon   associated access, car parking and landscaping

Comment: Applicant is reviewing the proposal.

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
3752/19/OPA Jacqueline Houslander 11-Feb-20 12-May-20 6-Apr-21

Former School Playing Ground Elmwood Park Loddiswell   Outline application with some matters reserved for residential        
TQ7 SA development of 20-25 dwellings

Comment – Under consideration by officer

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
0761/20/OPA Jacqueline Houslander 5-Mar-20 4-Jun-20 22-Jan-21

Vicarage Park Land North of Westentown Kingston   TQ7 Outline application with some matters reserved for 12 new 
4LU houses.     Alterations to existing access and construction of 

access road.       Realignment and creation of new public rights of 
way, provision of    public open space and strategic landscaping 
(Resubmission of          4068/17/OPA)

Comment: Ongoing discussions with applicant.
Valid Date Target Date EoT Date

0995/20/VAR Anna Henderson-Smith 1-Apr-20 1-Jul-20 19-Feb-21

Hartford Mews Phase 2  Cornwood Road Ivybridge   Variation of conditions 4 (LEMP) and 13 (Tree Protective 
Fencing) of  planning consent 3954/17/FUL

Comment:

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
3623/19/FUL Cheryl Stansbury 14-Apr-20 14-Jul-20 5-Oct-21

  Land off Godwell Lane Ivybridge   Full planning application for the development of 111 residential
dwellings with associated access, parking, landscaping, locally       
equipped play area and infrastructure

Comment: On-going discussions with applicant. Further 3 month extension of time agreed

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
0868/20/ARM Jacqueline Houslander 29-Apr-20 29-Jul-20 28-May-21

Development Site at SX 612 502  North Of Church Hill Application for approval of reserved matters following outline        
Holbeton   approval 25/1720/15/O for the construction of 14no.dwellings,         

provision of community car park, allotment gardens, access and        
associated works including access, layout, scale appearance and       
landscaping (Resubmission of 0127/19/ARM)

Comment: On-going discussions with applicant.

Valid Date Target DateEoT Date
1419/20/FUL Jacqueline Houslander 2-Jun-20 1-Sep-20 15-Jan-21

Land West of Beara Farm  Woolston Green Landscove   READVERTISEMENT (revised plans received) Demolition of 
Existing concrete barn and construction of fourteen dwellings 
Including five   for shared ownership/affordable rent 
(Resubmission of 2176/18/FUL)

Comment: Awaiting conclusion of Section 106 agreement

.

Page 63



1

Valid Date Target DateEoT Date
2508/20/OPA Anna Henderson-Smith 12-Aug-20 11-Nov-20 6-Jan-21

Moor View Touring Park Modbury    PL21 0SG Outline application with some matters reserved for proposed
Development of holiday lodges, leisure facilities and 
Associated works(resubmission of 0482/17/FUL)

Comment: An Extension of time has been sought to allow applicant to alter the application to the correct form which is a Full 
application, not an outline, and to remove the new leisure complex from the proposed scheme. As such the scheme is being re-
advertised as a full application for the change of use of land for the siting of lodges only.  The previous application has had the 
appeal dismissed.

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
3841/20/OPA Bryn Kitching 3-Dec-20 4-Mar-21 31-July-21

  Land At Sawmills North of A385 Dartington  Outline application with all matters reserved, except for access, 
for up to 40no. Residential units and associated public open space 
and infrastructure

Comment – Application approved by committee subject to a S106

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
3842/20/OPA Bryn Kitching 3-Dec-20 4-Mar-21 31-July-21

Land At SX 783 624  Broom Park Dartington   Outline application with all matters reserved, except for access, 
for up to 80no. Residential units and associated public open space 
and infrastructure

Comment – Application approved by committee subject to a S106

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
4254/20/FUL Anna Henderson-Smith 23-Dec-20 24-Mar-21

Springfield   Filham   PL21 0DN Proposed development of redundant nursery to provide 30 new 
dwellings for affordable and social rent, a new community hub 
building, conversion of existing barns to provide ancillary 
spaces and landscaping works providing communal areas 
and playgrounds

Comment – Under consideration by officer

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
0100/21/FUL Tom French 13-Jan-21 14-Apr-21

Land at SX 5688 5556, South of Langage Business Park Construction of 1no 15000ftsq business unit and 2no 10000ftsq
Plympton Devon PL7 5HQ business units (Class uses B1(a)(b)(c), B2 & B8) in place of          

previously planning approved site layout (reference 1878/19/FUL)

Comment - Recently submitted application within consultation period

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
0642/21/VAR Jacqueline Houslander 22-Feb-21 24-May-21

Lower Coombe Royal  Stentiford Hill To Sorley Cross Application for variation of condition 13 of planning permission
Kingsbridge   TQ7 4AD      4182/18/FUL

Comment: Awaiting consultation replies.

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
0636/21/VAR Tom French 5-Mar-21 4-Jun-21

Phase 1a (Linden) Sherford Housing Development Site      Application for variation of conditions 1, 2 & 4 of planning
permission 0489/19/ARM

Comment - Recently submitted application within consultation period

Valid Date Target Date EoT DatePage 64



1

1118/21/ARM Ian Sosnowski 23-Mar-21 22-Jun-21 13 Aug 2021

Sherford Housing Development Site  East Sherford Cross Application for approval of Reserved Matters for strategic
To Wollaton Cross Zc4 Brixton              infrastructure including strategic drainage, highways, 

landscaping,   Phase 2 of the Community Park and open 
space/play as part of Phase 2D of the Sherford New Community 
pursuant to approval 0825/18/VAR (which was an EIA 
development and an Environmental Statement was submitted)

Comment – Revised plans expected in due course to address comments raised by consultees and officers.  Officers are in 
discussions with applicant concerning suitable extension of time period.  

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
0544/21/FUL Jacqueline Houslander 29-Mar-21 28-Jun-21 17 June 2021

Land at Stowford Mills  Station Road Ivybridge   PL21 0AW Construction of 16 dwellings with associated access and 
landscaping

Comment – Under consideration by Officer

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
1431/21/ARM Ian Sosnowski 15-Apr-21 15-Jul-21

Sherford New Community  Land South of Main Street Application for approval of Reserved Matters for 259no. dwellings 
Elburton Plymouth  PL8 2DP on

 parcels 12, 13 , 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 23, 24, including        
affordable housing and associated parking along with all 
necessary    parcel infrastructure including drainage and 
landscaping as part of   Phase 2D of the Sherford New 
Community, pursuant to approval          0825/18/VAR (which was 
EIA development and an Environmental Statement was 
submitted)

Comment – Applicants are currently revising proposals to address comments made by officers and consultees.  Revised target 
date is being discussed to enable amendments to be made.  

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
1490/21/ARM Tom French 20-Apr-21 20-Jul-21 13 Aug 2021

Sherford New Community  Commercial Area North of Main Application for approval of reserved matters for commercial area      
Street Elburton Plymouth  containing B1, B2, B8, D2 leisure, Sui generis uses as well as 2   

drivethrough restaurants and a hotel, including strategic drainage,   
highways and landscaping as part of the Sherford New 
Community        pursuant to Outline approval 0825/18/VAR 
(which was an EIA developmentand an Environmental Statement 
was submitted)

Comment - Recently submitted application within consultation period

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
1491/21/ARM Tom French 20-Apr-21 20-Jul-21 13 Aug 2021

Sherford New Community  Green Infrastructure Areas 6 Application for approval of reserved matters for Green 
and 18 North of Main Street Elburton Plymouth PL8 2DP Infrastructure areas 6 and 18 including details of surface water 

drainage            infrastructure, all planting and landscaping as 
part of the Sherford  New Community pursuant to Outline 
approval 0825/18/VAR (which was EIA development and an 
Environmental Statement was submitted)

Comment - Recently submitted application within consultation period

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
1582/21/ARM Tom French 27-Apr-21 27-Jul-21

Sherford New Community  Land East of Orion Way Application for approval of reserved matters for 116 residential
Elburton Plymouth  PL8 2DP      dwellings, on parcels 1B-E, 1B-F, 1B-G and 1B-J including 

affordable  housing and associated parking along with all 
necessary parcel        infrastructure including drainage and 

Page 65



1

landscaping as part of Phase 1b of the Sherford New Community 
pursuant to approval under 0825/18/VAR  (which was an EIA 
development and an Environmental Statement was submitted)

Comment - Recently submitted application within consultation period

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
1159/21/FUL Cheryl Stansbury 23-Apr-21 23-Jul-21

Land at West End Garage  Main Road Salcombe   TQ8 Erection of 22 residential dwellings (including 30% affordable 
8NA homes)

with associated amenities and infrastructure (Resubmission of     
3320/20/FUL)

Comment - Recently submitted application within consultation period

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
1826/21/ARM Ian Sosnowski 14-May-21 13-Aug-21

Sherford New Community   Plymouth   Application for approval of reserved matters for 207 no. dwellings 
on
parcels 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9 and 11, including affordable housing   
and associated parking along with all necessary parcel 
infrastructure including drainage and landscaping, as part of 
Phase 2D of the        Sherford New Community, pursuant to 
approval 0825/18/VAR (which was   EIA development and an 
Environmental Statement was submitted)

Comment - Recently submitted application within consultation period

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
1827/21/ARM Ian Sosnowski 14-May-21 13-Aug-21

Sherford New Community   Plymouth   Application for approval of reserved matters for 163 no. dwellings 
on
parcels 21, 22, 25, 29, 30, 31 and 32, including affordable 
housing   and associated parking along with all necessary parcel 
infrastructure including drainage and landscaping, as part of 
Phase 2D of the        Sherford new Community, pursuant to 
approval 0825/18/VAR (which was anEIA development and an 
Environmental Statement was submitted)

Comment - Recently submitted application within consultation period

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
1503/21/FUL Elizabeth Arnold 19-May-21 18-Aug-21

Development Site At Sx859483 School Road Stoke Erection of 20 dwellings (incorporating 6 affordable 
Fleming   homes) with access, landscaping, parking, public open 

space and associated works

Comment - Recently submitted application within consultation period

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
1825/21/VAR Elizabeth Arnold 15-Jun-21 14-Sep-21

Bidwell Solar Farm   Dartington   Application for variation of condition 16 (decommissioning works) 
Of planning consent 14/1040/13/F

Comment - Recently submitted application within consultation period

Page 66



1

Valid Date Target Date EoT Date
2510/21/ARM Ian Sosnowski 22-Jun-21 21-Sep-21

Sherford New Community  Land South of Main Street Application for approval of Reserved Matters for 140no. dwellings 
Elburton Plymouth  PL8 2DP on  parcels 26, 27, 28 and 33, including affordable housing and 

associatedparking along with all necessary parcel infrastructure 
including drainage and landscaping, as part of Phase 2D of the 
Sherford New Community, pursuant to approval 0825/18/VAR 
(which was an EIA development and an Environmental Statement 
was as submitted)

Comment - Recently submitted application within consultation period

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6a 1944/19/FUL
	6b 2555/21/VAR
	6c 0594/21/HHO
	6d 3018/20/FUL
	6e 0176/21/FUL
	7 Planning Appeals Update
	8 Update on Undetermined Major Applications

